UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACTOF 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2025
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGEACTOF 1934
Commission file number: 001-38399

AdaptHealth Corp.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 82-3677704
(State of Other Jurisdiction of incorporation or Organization) (I.R.S Employer Identification No.)
555 East North Lane, Suite 5075, Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (610) 424-4515
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name Of Each Exchange
Title of Each Class Trading Symbol(s) On Which Registered
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share AHCO The Nasdaq Stock Market L1LC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes B No O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.0405 of this chapter)
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions
of "large accelerated filer,” "accelerated filer,” "smaller reporting company,” and "emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer X Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
Emerging growth company O
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards
provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes O No X
As of May 2, 2025, there were 134,947,901 shares of the Registrant’s Common Stock issued and outstanding.




ADAPTHEALTH CORP.

FORM10-Q
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page Number

PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 4

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 5

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders” Equity for the three months ended March 31. 2025 and 2024 6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 7

Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 8
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 34
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 52
Item4. Controls and Procedures 52
PART Il OTHER INFORMATION 53
Item 1. Legal Proceedings 53
Item 1A. Risk Factors 53
Item2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 53
Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities 53
Item4. Mine Safety Disclosure 53
Item 5. Other Information 53
Item 6. Exhibits 54

Signatures 55




Table of Contents

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including " Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part I Item2, and the
documents incorporated by reference herein, we make forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-
looking statements relate to expectations for future financial performance, business strategies or expectations for our business. These statements may be preceded by, followed by
or include the words "may,” "might,” "will,” "will likely result,” "should,” "estimate,” "plan,” "project,” "forecast,” "intend,” "expect,” "anticipate,” "believe,” "seek,” "continue,”
"target” or similar expressions.

These forward-looking statements are based on information available to us as of the date they were made, and involve a number of risks and uncertainties which may
cause themto tumn out to be wrong. Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our views as of any subsequent date, and we do not
undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were made, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws. As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, our actual results or
performance may be materially different fromthose expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Some factors that could cause actual results to differ include:

* competition and the ability of our business to grow and manage profitable growth;

» fluctuations in the U.S. and/or global stock markets;

» the possibility that we may be adversely affected by other economic, business, and/or competitive factors;
» changes in applicable laws or regulations; and

*  otherrisks and uncertainties set forth in this Form 10-Q.

Investors should carefully consider the foregoing factors and the other risks and uncertainties that may affect our business including those outlined under Item 1A, Risk
Factors, in our most recent annual report on Form 10-K and our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q.
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PART I- FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Interim Consolidated Financial Statements

ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

(UNAUDITED)
March 31, December 31,
2025 2024
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 53,650 $ 109,747
Accounts receivable 418,455 408,019
Inventory 129,295 139,842
Prepaid and other current assets 42,324 45,432
Assets held for sale 101,449 52,748
Total current assets 745,173 755,788
Equipment and other fixed assets, net 481,625 474,556
Operating lease right-of-use assets 99,674 105,999
Finance lease right-of-use assets 41,137 37,801
Goodwill 2,635,434 2,675,166
Identifiable intangible assets, net 100,286 105,548
Deferred tax assets 315,130 314,505
Other assets 18,891 17,584
Total Assets $ 4,437,350 $ 4,486,947
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 421,194  $ 437,985
Current portion of long-term debt 16,250 16,250
Current portion of operating lease obligations 28,659 29,945
Current portion of finance lease obligations 15,982 14,315
Contract liabilities 46,450 34,944
Other liabilities 30,685 26,505
Liabilities held for sale 17,514 7,043
Total current liabilities 576,734 566,987
Long-term debt, less current portion 1,941,062 1,964,921
Operating lease obligations, less current portion 74,864 80,275
Finance lease obligations, less current portion 26,452 24,630
Other long-term liabilities 244,384 272,016
Total Liabilities 2,863,496 2,908,829
Commitments and contingencies (note 15)
Stockholders' Equity:
Common Stock, par value of $0.0001 per share, 300,000,000 shares authorized; 134,940,941 and 134,602,317 shares issued and outstanding as of
March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively 13 13
Preferred Stock, par value of $0.0001 per share, 5,000,000 shares authorized, 124,060 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2025 and
December 31, 2024 1 1
Treasury stock, at cost (2,935,035 shares at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024) (25,548) (25,548)
Additional paid-in capital 2,161,140 2,156,604
Accumulated deficit (569,385) (562,178)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,578 2,253
Total stockholders' equity attributable to AdaptHealth Corp. 1,567,799 1,571,145
Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary 6,055 6,973
Total Stockholders' Equity 1,573,854 1,578,118
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 4437350 ' $ 4,486,947

See accompanying notes to unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.



Table of Contents

Net revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of net revenue
General and administrative expenses

ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCFEPT PER SHARE DATA)

(UNAUDITED)

Depreciation and amortization, excluding patient equipment depreciation

Goodwill impairment (note 6)
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Change in fair value of warrant liability (note 11)
Other loss
(Loss) income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net loss attributable to AdaptHealth Corp.

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted

Basic net loss per share (note 12)
Diluted net loss per share (note 12)

See accompanying notes to unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024
777882 $ 792,497
657,444 635,030
86,854 89,041
10,414 11,365
— 6,530
754,712 741,966
23,170 50,531
28,399 32472
— 7,453
— 5,105
(5.229) 5,501
850 6,610
(6,079) (1,109)
1,128 1,025
(7207) S (2,134)
134,799 132,914
134,799 132,914
0.05) $ (0.02)
0.05) $ (0.02)
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Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):

ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(IN THOUSANDS)

(UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended March 31,

(Loss) gain on interest rate swap agreements, inclusive of reclassification adjustment, net of tax

Comprehensive loss

Income attributable to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to AdaptHealth Corp.

2025 2024
$ 6,079 S (1,109)
(675) 856
(6,754) (253)
1,128 1,025
$ (7.882) S (1,278)

See accompanying notes to unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
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ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance, December 31, 2024
Equity-based compensation

Payments for tax withholdings from restricted stock
vestings

Common Stock issued in connection with employee
stock purchase plan

Distribution to non-controlling interest
Net (loss) income

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps, inclusive
of reclassification adjustment

Balance, March 31, 2025

Balance, December 31, 2023
Equity-based compensation
Exercise of stock options

Payments for tax withholdings from restricted stock
vestings

Common Stock issued in connection with employee
stock purchase plan

Net (loss) income

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps, inclusive of
reclassification adjustment

Balance, March 31, 2024

(IN THOUSANDS)
(UNAUDITED)
» Accumulated .
Common Stock Preferred Stock Treasury Stock Additional . - other Noncontrolling
paid-in Acc comp ve interestin
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit income subsidiary Total
134,602 $ 13 124 ' $ 1 2,935 $ (25,548) $2,156,604 $ (562,178) $ 2253 $ 6,973 $1,578,118
280 — — — — 5,296 — — 5,296
= = — = = — (1,324) = — — (1,324)
59 — — — — — 564 — — — 564
= = — = = — — = — (2,046) (2,046)
— — — — — — (7,207) — 1,128 (6,079)
= = — = = o = = (675) = (675)
134,941 § 13 124 $ 1 2,935 $ (25,548) $2,161,140 $ (569,385) $ 1,578 § 6,055 $1,573,854
Additional Accunlllmated N 11
iti t] ntrolli
Common Stock Preferred Stock Treasury Stock pai dgn Accumulated coml(;relfznsive "i':n“;mt il:"g
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit income bsidiary Total
132,635 $ 13 124 $ 1 3,935 $ (43,267) $2,149,951 $ (652,600) $ 4356 $ 8,215 $1,466,669
300 — — — — 4,533 — — 4,533
177 — — — — 545 — — 545
— — — — (1,072) — — (1,072)
83 — = = = 607 = — 607
— — — — (2,134) — 1,025 (1,109)
G — = = = = 856 G 856
133,195 $ 13 124 § 1 3,935 § (43,267) $2,154,564 $ (654,734) $ 5212 $ 9,240 $1,471,029

See accompanying notes to unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
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ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization, including patient equipment depreciation
Goodwill impairment
Equity-based compensation
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Reduction in the carrying amount of operating lease right-of-use assets
Reduction in the carrying amount of finance lease right-of-use assets
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps, net of reclassification adjustment
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Payment of contingent consideration from an acquisition
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid and other assets
Operating lease obligations
Operating liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of equipment and other fixed assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on long-term debt and lines of credit
Proceeds from borrowings on lines of credit
Repayments of finance lease obligations
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Proceeds received in connection with employee stock purchase plan
Payments relating to the Tax Receivable Agreement
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Payments for tax withholdings from restricted stock vesting
Payments of contingent consideration and deferred purchase price from acquisitions
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash
Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period

Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Income tax refunds, net of cash paid for taxes

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Unpaid equipment and other fixed asset purchases at end of period
Assets subject to operating lease obligations
Operating lease obligations
Write-off of assets subject to operating lease obligations
Write-off of operating lease obligations
Assets subject to finance lease obligations
Finance lease obligations
Write-off of assets subject to finance lease obligations
Write-off of finance lease obligations

See accompanying notes to unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.

(IN THOUSANDS)
(UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024
(6,079) $ (1,109)
94,345 92,876

— 6,530
5,296 4,533
— 7,453
7,490 10,730
3,374 2,255
(776) 4,389
— (367)
1,283 1,309
— (1,850)
(15,429) (40,647)
9,159 5,056
194 33,610
(7,861) (10,653)
4,531 (65,080)
95,527 49,035
(95,585) (87,891)
(95,585) (87,891)
(25,000) (25,000)
— 75,000
(3,221) (2,291)
— 545
564 607
(25,012) (1,432)
(2,046) —
(1,324) (1,139)
— (5,000)
(56,039) 41,290
(56,097) 2,434
109,747 77,132
53,650 $ 79,566
45969 $ 50,259
4 328
58,250 42,074
3,483 12,987
(3,483) (12,987)
(2,232) (1,488)
2232 1,488
7,388 1,023
(7,388) (1,023)
(678) (303)
678 303
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ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Interim Cons olidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

(1) General Information

AdaptHealth Corp. and subsidiaries (" AdaptHealth" or "the Company") is a national leader in providing patient-centered, healthcare-at-home solutions including home
medical equipment ("HME"), medical supplies, and related services. AdaptHealth services beneficiaries of Medicare, Medicaid and commercial insurance payors. The Company
operates under four reportable segments that align with its product categories: (i) Sleep Health, (ii) Respiratory Health, (iii) Diabetes Health, and (iv) Wellness at Home. The Sleep
Health segment provides sleep therapy equipment, supplies and related services (including CPAP and BiLevel services) to individuals for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea.
The Respiratory Health segment provides oxygen and home mechanical ventilation equipment and supplies and related chronic therapy services to individuals for the treatment of
respiratory diseases, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic respiratory failure. The Diabetes Health segment provides medical devices, including continuous
glucose monitors and insulin pumps, and related services to patients for the treatment of diabetes. The Wellness at Home segment provides home medical equipment and services
to patients in their homes including those who have been discharged fromacute care and other facilities. The segment tailors a service model to patients who are adjusting to new
lifestyles or navigating complex disease states by providing essential medical supplies and durable medical equipment.

The interim consolidated financial statements are unaudited, but reflect all normal recurring adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary to fairly present
the information set forth herein. The interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. Interimresults are not necessarily indicative of the results for a full year.

There have been no material changes in the Company’s significant accounting policies as compared to the significant accounting policies described in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

(@) Basis of Presentation

The interim consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
Anmerica ("U.S. GAAP"). In the opinion of management, the interim consolidated financial statements include all necessary adjustments for a fair presentation of the financial
position and results of operations for the periods presented.

(b) Basis of Consolidation

The accompanying interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(c) Business Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of a public entity for which discrete financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the Chief Operating
Decision Maker ("CODM”) for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. The Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer. Effective October 1,
2024, the Company realigned its reportable segments as a result of organizational changes and to reflect the way the Company’s CODM assesses performance and allocates
resources. As a result of this realignment, the Company is organized under four reportable segments that align to the Company’s product categories: Sleep Health, Respiratory
Health, Diabetes Health, and Wellness at Home. All segment information is reflective of this new structure and prior period information has been recast to conformto the current
period presentation. See Note 5, Segment Information, for more information on the Company’s segments.

(d) Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and trade accounts receivable. The Company
maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which, at times, may exceed
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ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)

federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash.
(e) Accounting Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Management bases these estimates and assumptions upon historical experience, existing and known circumstances, authoritative accounting
pronouncements and other factors that management believes to be reasonable. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to revenue recognition and the
valuation of accounts receivable (implicit price concession), income taxes and the taxreceivable agreement, equity-based compensation, long-lived assets, including goodwill and
identifiable intangible assets, and contingencies. Actual results could differ fromthose estimates.

(/) Reclassifications

The Company previously classified certain expenses, primarily related to revenue cycle management costs, as a component of Cost of net revenue in its Consolidated
Statements of Operations. During the three months ended March 31, 2025, the Company has classified these costs within General and administrative expenses to better align with
common industry practice, and has reclassified these costs in its Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2024 to conformto the current
period presentation. During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company reclassified $40.7 million from Cost of net revenue to General and administrative expenses. The
resulting reclassifications had no impact on the Company's historical reported net revenue, operating income (loss), or cash flows fromoperating activities, investing activities, and
financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024.

() Valuation of Goodwill

The Company has a significant amount of goodwill on its balance sheet that resulted fromthe business acquisitions the Company has made. Goodwill is not amortized,
rather, it is assessed at the reporting unit level for impairment annually and also upon the occurrence of a triggering event or change in circumstances indicating that the carrying
value of goodwill may be impaired. A significant amount of judgment is involved in determining if an indicator of impairment has occurred. Such triggering events potentially
warranting an annual or interim goodwill impairment assessment include, among other factors, declines in historical or projected reporting unit revenue, operating income or cash
flows, and sustained decreases in the Company’s stock price or market capitalization. Such changes in circumstance can include, among others, changes in the legal environment,
reimbursement environment, operating performance, and/or future prospects. In addition, consistent with the examples of such events and circumstances given in the accounting
guidance, a goodwill impairment test is also performed immediately before and after a reorganization of the Company’s reporting structure when the reorganization would affect the
composition of one or more of the Company’s reporting units. In this circumstance, performing the impairment test immediately before and after the reorganization would help to
confirmthat the reorganization is not potentially masking a goodwill impairment charge.

The Company performs its annual impairment assessment of goodwill during the fourth quarter of each year. The impairment assessment can be performed on either a
qualitative or quantitative basis. The Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to performa quantitative goodwill impairment test. Under the
qualitative assessment, the Company is not required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unless the Company determines that it is more likely than not that its fair value is
less than its carrying amount. If determined necessary, the Company applies the quantitative impairment test to identify and measure the amount of impairment, if any, by
comparing the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If under the quantitative test the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount,
then the amount of the impairment loss, if any, is determined based on the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value up to the total value of goodwill assigned to
the reporting unit.

Fair value determinations require considerable judgment and are sensitive to changes in underlying assumptions and factors, such as estimates of a reporting unit's fair
value, and judgment about impairment triggering events. Fair values of the reporting units are estimated using a weighted methodology considering the output fromboth the
income and market approaches. The income approach incorporates the use of a discounted cash flow ("DCF”) analysis. A number of significant
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ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)

assumptions and estimates are involved in the application of the DCF model to forecast operating cash flows, including revenue growth rates and discount rates. Several of these
assumptions could vary among reporting units. The market approach is performed using the Guideline Public Companies method which is based on earnings multiple data. The
Company performs a reconciliation between its market capitalization and its estimate of the aggregate fair value of the reporting units, including consideration of an estimated
control premium. As a result, there can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the annual or interim goodwill impairment test will prove to be
accurate predictions of the future.

(h) Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets, such as equipment and other fixed assets, operating lease right-of-use assets, finance lease right-of-use assets and definite-lived
identifiable intangible assets, are assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. The Company's tangible long-lived assets are located within the U.S.

Definite-lived identifiable intangible assets consist of tradenames, payor contracts, contractual rental agreements and developed technology. These assets are amortized
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the assets are expected to be consumed. In addition to
consideration of impairment upon the events or changes in circumstances described above, management regularly evaluates the remaining useful lives of its long-lived assets. The
following table summarizes the useful lives of the Company’s identifiable intangible assets:

Tradenames Sto 10 years
Payor contracts 10 years
Developed technology S years

The Company did not recognize any impairment charges on long-lived assets for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024.
(i) Equity-based Compensation

The Company accounts for its equity-based compensation in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification
("ASC") Topic 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation, which establishes accounting for share-based awards exchanged for employee services and requires companies to
expense the estimated fair value of these awards over the requisite employee service period. Equity-based compensation expense related to these grants is included within general
and administrative expenses and cost of net revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company measures and recognizes equity-based
compensation expense for such awards based on their estimated fair values on the date of grant. For share-based awards with service only or service and performance conditions,
the value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense over the requisite service period in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. For share-based awards with only a service condition, equity-based compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. For
awards with performance conditions, equity-based compensation expense is recognized straight-line on a tranche-by-tranche basis over the employees’ requisite service period
subject to management’s estimation of the probability of vesting of such awards. If management determines that the performance conditions are no longer probable of
achievement, the Company will reverse the previously recognized equity-based compensation expense in the period of determination. For awards with market conditions, the grant-
date fair value is estimated using a monte-carlo simulation analysis, which is recognized straight-line on a tranche-by-tranche basis over the employees’ requisite service period
regardless of whether or the extent to which the awards ultimately vest. The Company does not estimate forfeitures in connection with its accounting for equity-based
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ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)

compensation, and instead accounts for forfeitures as they occur. See Note 11, Stockholders’ Equity, for additional information regarding the Company’s equity-based
compensation expense.

() Accounting for Leases

The Company accounts for its leases in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 842, Leases (" ASC 842"). ASC 842 requires the Company to recognize a lease liability, which
represents the discounted obligation to make future minimum lease payments, and a corresponding right-of-use ("ROU") asset on its consolidated balance sheet for most leases,
and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. ASC 842 applies to a number of arrangements to which the Company is a party.

Generally, upon the commencement of a lease, the Company will record a lease liability and a ROU asset. However, the Company has elected, for all underlying leases with
initial terms of twelve months or less (known as short-termleases), to not recognize a lease liability or ROU asset. Lease liabilities are initially recorded at lease commencement as
the present value of future lease payments. ROU assets are initially recorded at lease commencement as the initial amount of the lease liability, together with the following, if
applicable: (i) initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (ii) lease payments made to the lessor net of lease incentives received, prior to lease commencement.

Over the lease term, the Company generally increases its lease liabilities using the effective interest method and decreases its lease liabilities for lease payments made. For
finance leases, amortization and interest expense are recognized separately in the consolidated statements of operations, with amortization expense generally recorded on a
straight-line basis over the lease termand interest expense recorded using the effective interest method. For operating leases, a single lease cost is generally recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the lease termunless an impairment has been recorded with respect to a leased asset. Lease costs for short-term
leases not recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease
costs not initially included in the lease liability and ROU asset impairment charges are expensed as incurred. ROU assets are assessed for impairment, similar to other long-lived
assets.

See Note 13, Leases, for additional information.
(k) Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-02, Codification Improvements-Amendments to Remove References to the Concepts Statements, which removes various
references to concepts statements fromthe FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The Company adopted ASU 2024-02 in the quarter ended March 31, 2025 which did not
have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-01, Compensation-Stock Compensation ("Topic 718"), which provides illustrative guidance to help entities determine
whether profits interest and similar awards should be accounted for as share-based payment arrangements within the scope of ASC 718. The Company adopted ASU 2024-01 in the
quarter ended March 31, 2025 which did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In August 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-05, Business Combinations-Joint Venture Formations (" Topic 805-60"), which requires that all entities that qualify as
either a joint venture or a corporate joint venture are required to apply a new basis of accounting. Specifically, the ASU provides that a joint venture or a corporate joint venture
nust initially measure its assets and liabilities at fair value on the formation date. The Company adopted ASU 2023-05 in the quarter ended March 31, 2025 which did not have a
material impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

(1) Recently Issued Accounting Pronounc ts Not Yet Adopted
In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40),

which requires new financial statement disclosures in tabular format, in the notes to the financial statements, of specified information about certain costs and expenses. This ASU
will be effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026. Early adoption is permitted and is effective on either a prospective
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basis or retrospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes ("Topic 740"). This ASU improves the transparency of income tax disclosures by requiring public
business entities to disclose specific categories in the annual rate reconciliation as well as disclose income tax expense (or benefit) and the amount of income taxes paid
disaggregated by jurisdiction. ASU 2023-09 is effective on a prospective basis for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact that this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In March 2024, the SEC issued its final climate disclosure rule, which requires registrants to provide climate-related disclosures in their annual reports and registration
statements. The new disclosure requirements would have been effective for the Company beginning with its annual report for the year ending December 31, 2025. In April 2024, the
SEC stayed its final climate rule to allow for a judicial review of pending legal challenges, and in March 2025, the SEC voted to end its defense of the rules and withdrew fromthe
litigation.

(2) Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable
Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenues for services and related products that the Company provides to patients for home medical equipment, related supplies, and other items.
The Company’s revenues are recognized in the period in which services and related products are provided to customers and are recorded either at a point in time for the sale of
supplies and disposables, over the fixed monthly service period for equipment, or in the month in which eligible members are entitled to receive healthcare services in connection
with at-risk capitation arrangements.

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised good or service is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company
expects to receive frompatients or under reimbursement arrangements with Medicare, Medicaid and third-party payors, in exchange for those goods and services.

The Company determines the transaction price based on contractually agreed-upon amounts or rates, referred to as explicit price concessions, adjusted for estimates of
variable consideration, such as implicit price concessions, based on historical reimbursement experience. The Company utilizes the expected value method to determine the amount
of variable consideration, including implicit and explicit price concessions, that should be included to arrive at the transaction price, using contractual agreements and historical
reimbursement experience. The Company applies constraint to the transaction price, such that net revenue is recorded only to the extent that it is probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue recognized will not occur in the future. If actual amounts of consideration ultimately received differ fromthe Company’s estimates,
the Company adjusts these estimates, which would affect net revenue in the period such adjustments become known.

Sales revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in
exchange for those products or services. Revenues for the sale of sleep therapy equipment supplies (including CPAP resupply products), home medical equipment and related
supplies (including wheelchairs, hospital beds and infusion pumps), diabetic medical devices and supplies (including CGM and insulin pumps), and other HME products and
supplies are recognized when control of the promised good or service is transferred to customers, which is generally upon shipment for direct to consumer medical devices and
supplies and upon delivery to the home for home medical equipment.

The Company provides certain equipment to patients which is reimbursed periodically in fixed monthly payments for as long as the patient is using the equipment and
medical necessity continues (in certain cases, the fixed monthly payments are capped at a certain amount). The equipment provided to the patient is based upon medical necessity
as documented by prescriptions and other documentation received fromthe patient’s physician. The patient generally does not negotiate or select the manufacturer or model of
the equipment prescribed by their physician and delivered by the Company. Once initial delivery of this equipment is made to the patient for initial setup, a monthly billing process
is established based on the initial setup service date. The Company recognizes the fixed monthly revenue ratably over the service period as earned, less estimated adjustments, and
defers revenue for the portion of the monthly bill that is uneamed. No separate
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revenue is eamed fromthe initial setup process. Included in fixed monthly revenue are unbilled amounts for which the revenue recognition criteria had been met as of period-end
but were not yet billed to the payor. The estimate of net unbilled fixed monthly revenue recognized is based on historical trends and estimates of future collectability.

The Company receives a per member per month ("PMPM?”) fee under certain at-risk capitation arrangements, which refers to a model in which the Company receives a
PMPM fee fromthe third-party payor, and is responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs of its members. In at-risk capitation arrangements, the
Company is responsible for the cost of contracted healthcare services required by those members in accordance with the terms of each agreement. Capitated revenue contracts
with payors are generally multi-year arrangements and have a single monthly stand ready performance obligation to provide all aspects of necessary medical care to members for
the contracted period in accordance with the scope of the agreements. The Company recognizes revenue in the month in which eligible members are entitled to receive healthcare
services during the contract term.

The Company’s billing system contains payor-specific price tables that reflect the fee schedule amounts in effect or contractually agreed upon by various government
and commercial insurance payors for each itemof equipment or supply provided to a customer. Revenues are recorded based on the applicable fee schedule. The Company has
established a contractual allowance, referred to as an explicit price concession, to account for adjustments that result from differences between the payment amount received and
the expected realizable amount. If the payment amount received differs fromthe net realizable amount, an adjustment is recorded to revenues in the period that these payment
differences are determined. The Company reports revenues in its consolidated financial statements net of such adjustments.

The Company recognizes revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and contract assets on the consolidated balance sheets only when services have been
provided. Since the Company has performed its obligation under the contract, it has unconditional rights to the consideration recorded as contract assets and therefore classifies
those billed and unbilled contract assets as accounts receivable.

Fixed monthly payments that the Company receives from customers in advance of providing services represent contract liabilities. Such payments primarily relate to
patients who are billed monthly in advance and are recognized over the period as eaed.

The Company disaggregates net revenue from contracts with customers by payor type and by segment. The Company believes that disaggregation of net revenue into
these categories depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. The payment terms and conditions within the
Company’s revenue-generating contracts vary by payor type and payor source. All of the Company's net revenues are derived from within the U.S.

The composition of net revenue by payor type for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024
Insurance $ 454,227 $ 483,365
Government 197,411 198,398
Patient pay 126,244 110,734
Net revenue $ 777,882 $ 792,497
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The composition of net revenue by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024
Net sales revenue:
Sleep Health $ 241,171 $ 237,592
Respiratory Health 8,261 7,905
Diabetes Health 134,386 146,979
Wellness at Home 111,704 113,664
Total net sales revenue $ 495522  $ 506,140
Net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements:
Sleep Health $ 67541 $ 80,690
Respiratory Health 142,174 137,232
Diabetes Health 2,834 2,279
Wellness at Home 36,986 34,137
Total net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements $ 249535  § 254,338
Net revenue from capitated revenue arrangements:
Sleep Health $ 7639 $ 7,052
Respiratory Health 15,046 15,126
Diabetes Health 1,624 1,598
Wellness at Home 8,516 8,243
Total net revenue from capitated revenue arrangements $ 3285  § 32,019
Total net revenue:
Sleep Health $ 316351  $ 325,334
Respiratory Health 165,481 160,263
Diabetes Health 138,844 150,856
Wellness at Home 157,206 156,044
Total net revenue $ 777882  § 792,497
Accounts Receivable

Due to the continuing changes in the healthcare industry and third-party reimbursement environment, certain estimates are required to record accounts receivable at their
net realizable values. Inherent in these estimates is the risk that they will have to be revised or updated as additional information becomes available. The complexity of third-party
billing arrangements and laws and regulations governing Medicare and Medicaid may result in adjustments to amounts originally recorded.

The Company performs a periodic analysis to review the valuation of accounts receivable and collectability of outstanding balances. Management’s evaluation takes into

consideration such factors as historical cash collections experience, business and economic conditions, trends in healthcare coverage, other collection indicators and information
about specific receivables. The Company’s evaluation also considers the age and composition of the outstanding amounts in determining their estimated net realizable value.
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Receivables are considered past due when not collected by established due dates. Specific patient balances are written off after collection efforts have been followed and
the account has been determined to be uncollectible. Revisions in receivable estimates are considered implicit price concession adjustments and are recognized as an adjustment to
net revenue in the period of revision. The Company does not have any material bad debt expense.

Included in accounts receivable are earned but unbilled accounts receivables. Billing delays, ranging fromseveral days to several weeks, can occur due to the Company’s
policy of compiling required payor specific documentation prior to billing for its services rendered. As of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company’s unbilled accounts
receivable was $38.4 million and $41.6 million, respectively.

(3) Heldfor Sale

In December 2024, the Company entered into a definitive agreement for the disposition of a business that is included in its Wellness at Home segment, and the transaction
closed on May 1, 2025. In accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, management determined that the assets and
liabilities of the business met the requirements to be classified as held for sale. Management performed an assessment of the fair value of the business, and such fair value was
determined to be greater than the carrying value of the net assets of the business as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024.

In February 2025, the Company's board of directors authorized the disposition of a business that is included in the Company's Wellness at Home segment, and on May 1,
2025 the Company signed a definitive agreement related to the disposition. In accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, as of March 31, 2025, management
determined that the assets and liabilities of the business met the requirements to be classified as held for sale. Management performed an assessment of the fair value of the
business, and such fair value was determined to be greater than the carrying value of the net assets of the business as of March 31, 2025.

The dispositions described above did not represent a strategic shift for the Company. As such, they do not meet the requirements to be classified and presented as
discontinued operations.

The carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities of these businesses which are classified as held for sale at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets are as follows (in thousands):
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March 31,2025 December 31,2024

Accounts receivable $ 12,102 $ 7,108

Inventory 1,819 432

Prepaid and other current assets 1,235 676

Equipment and other fixed assets 1,744 285

Operating lease right-of-use assets 776 690

Goodwill 80,943 41,211

Identifiable intangible assets 2,435 2,335

Deferred taxassets 384 —

Other assets 11 11

Assets held for sale $ 101,449 $ 52,748

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 15,070 $ 6,330

Operating lease liabilities 801 713

Contract liabilities 193 —

Other liabilities 1,450 —

Liabilities held for sale $ 17,514 $ 7,043

(4) Equipment and Other Fixed Assets
Equipment and other fixed assets as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 are as follows (in thousands):
March 31, December 31,
2025 2024

Patient medical equipment 860,455 $ 843,198
Computers and software 91,842 92,664
Delivery vehicles 33,329 33,637
Other 24,159 23,233
Gross carrying value 1,009,785 992,732
Less accumulated depreciation (528,160) (518,176)
Equipment and other fixed assets, net 481,625 $ 474,556

For the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company recognized depreciation expense of $89.2 million and $87.3 million, respectively.

(5) Segment Information

The Company operates its business through four reportable segments that align to the Company’s product categories: Sleep Health, Respiratory Health, Diabetes Health,
and Wellness at Home. A description of the products and services provided within each of the Company’s four reportable segments is provided below.

Sleep Health

The Sleep Health segment provides sleep therapy equipment, supplies and related services (including CPAP and Bilevel services) to individuals for the treatment of

obstructive sleep

apnea.

Respiratory Health



Table of Contents

ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)

The Respiratory Health segment provides oxygen and home mechanical ventilation equipment and supplies and related chronic therapy services to individuals for the
treatment of respiratory diseases, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic respiratory failure.

Diabetes Health

The Diabetes Health segment provides medical devices, including continuous glucose monitors and insulin pumps, and related services to patients for the treatment of
diabetes.

Wellness at Home

The Wellness at Home segment provides home medical equipment and services to patients in their homes including those who have been discharged fromacute care and
other facilities. The segment tailors a service model to patients who are adjusting to new lifestyles or navigating complex disease states by providing essential medical supplies and
durable medical equipment.

The CODM evaluates performance of the reportable segments based on Adjusted EBITDA, which is the primary measure of segment profitability. The CODM uses
Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate segment operating performance, generate future operating plans, and to assist with the evaluation of strategic business decisions, including
potential acquisitions or divestitures, and whether to invest in certain products or services. Adjusted EBITDA excludes interest expense, net, income tax expense (benefit),
depreciation and amortization, including patient equipment depreciation, equity-based compensation expense, change in fair value of the warrant liability, goodwill impairment, loss
on extinguishment of debt, litigation settlement expense, and certain other non-recurring items of expense or income that the Company does not consider part of its reportable
segments’ core operating results. Adjusted EBITDA includes certain centrally incurred corporate and shared function costs, which are allocated to the reportable segments based
on methodologies designed to correlate with each segment’s consumption of the related cost. Segment assets are not regularly provided to the CODM and therefore have not been
disclosed.

The following tables present segment net revenue, significant segment expenses, and other segment items that are included in the Company’s reported measure of
segment profit or loss for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2025

Sleep Health Respiratory Health Diabetes Health Wellness at Home Total
Net revenue $ 316,351 165,481 138,844 157,206 $ 777,882
Less:
Cost of product and supplies (a) 108,199 34,054 104,069 80,554 326,876
Labor cost (a) (b) 80,720 54,059 12,977 34,547 182,303
Other operating expenses (a) (c) 32,805 14,826 1,856 13,569 63,056
Other segment items (d) 31,000 17,064 13,554 16,091 77,709
Adjusted EBITDA $ 63,627 $ 45,478 $ 6,388 $ 12,445 $ 127,938
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Sleep Health Respiratory Health Diabetes Health Wellness at Home Total
Net revenue $ 325,334 160,263 150,856 156,044 792,497
Less:
Cost of product and supplies (a) 103,291 33,439 100,889 77,584 315,203
Labor cost (a) (b) 78,032 49,681 12,994 35,582 176,289
Other operating expenses (a) (c) 31,738 14,265 1,698 12,420 60,121
Other segment items (d) 32,737 17,519 14,715 17,428 82,399
Adjusted EBITDA $ 79,536  $ 45359  § 20,560 $ 13,030 158,485

(a) These expense categories align with the segment-level information that is regularly provided to the CODM and are considered significant to the segment in accordance
with ASC Topic 280. The expense categories included in the tables above exclude amounts for patient equipment depreciation since these amounts are not reflected in the
segment measure of profit or loss. Refer to the section below, titled Patient Equipment Depreciation, for discussion of such amounts.

(b) Excludes salaries, labor and benefits for corporate employees. Salaries, labor and benefits for corporate employees are included within Other segment items.

(c) Other operating expenses primarily include costs relating to rent and occupancy, facilities, fleet, and other operating costs.

(d) Other segment items include allocated costs related to various general and administrative functions, including revenue cycle management, customer service, technology
and communications, sales and marketing, billings and collections, accounting and finance, executive administration, human resources, information technology and legal

and compliance.

The following table presents a reconciliation of total Adjusted EBITDA to consolidated income (loss) before income taxes (in thousands):

Total Adjusted EBITDA
Interest expense, net
Depreciation and amortization, including patient equipment depreciation
Equity-based compensation expense (a)
Change in fair value of warrant liability (b)
Goodwill impairment (c)
Litigation settlement expense (d)
Other non-recurring expenses, net (¢)

(Loss) income before income taxes

Three Months Ended March 31,
2025 2024

$ 127938  $ 158,485
(28,399) (32,472)
(94,345) (92,876)
(5,296) (4,533)
— (7,453)
— (6,530)
— (5,105)
(5,127) (4,015)

$ (5229 $ 5,501

(a) Represents equity-based compensation expense for awards granted to employees and non-employee directors.

(b) Represents a non-cash charge for the change in the estimated fair value of the warrant liability. See Note 11, Stockholders' Equity — Warrants for additional discussion of

the non-cash charge. These warrants expired on November 8, 2024.

(c) Represents a non-cash goodwill impairment charge relating to an immaterial business disposal during 2024.
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(d) The expense in 2024 includes a $4.2 million charge for the change in fair value of shares of Common Stock of the Company that were issued in July 2024 following final
court approval of a previously disclosed securities settlement, as well as an expense of $0.9 million to settle a shareholder derivative complaint.

(e) The 2025 period consists of $2.3 million of consulting expenses associated with asset dispositions, $1.6 million of consulting expenses associated with systems
implementation activities, and $1.2 million of other non-recurring expenses. The 2024 period consists of $1.2 million of expenses associated with litigation, $1.0 million of
consulting expenses associated with systems implementation activities, a $0.7 million write-down of assets, $0.7 million of consulting expenses associated with asset
dispositions, and $0.4 million of other non-recurring expenses.

Patient Equipment Depreciation

The following table presents the amounts of patient equipment depreciation by reportable segment (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,
2025 2024
Patient equipment depreciation:
Sleep Health $ 38,205 $ 42,367
Respiratory Health 31,116 21,805
Diabetes Health 2,270 1,768
Wellness at Home 12,340 15,571
Total patient equipment depreciation (1) $ 83,931 $ 81,511

(1) Patient equipment depreciation is included in Cost of net revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Patient equipment depreciation is not
reflected in the segment measure of profit or loss but the CODM regularly reviews this information by reportable segment.

(6) Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually identified and
separately recognized. The change in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was as follows (in thousands):

Sleep Health Respiratory Health Diabetes Health Wellness at Home Total Goodwill
Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 1,581,039 §$ 676,747  $ 211,796  $ 205,584  $ 2,675,166
Goodwill classified as assets held for sale (note 3) — — — (39,732) (39,732)
Balance at March 31, 2025 $ 1,581,039 $ 676,747  $ 211,796 $ 165852  $ 2,635,434

Management is required to performan assessment of the recoverability of goodwill on an annual basis and upon the identification of a triggering event. Triggering events
potentially warranting an interim goodwill impairment assessment include, among other factors, declines in historical or projected reporting unit revenue, operating results or cash
flows, and sustained decreases in the Company’s stock price or market capitalization. While management cannot predict if or when future goodwill impairments may occur, a non-
cash goodwill impairment charge could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operating results, net assets and the Company’s cost of, or access to, capital. The
Company did not identify any triggering events indicating a possible impairment of goodwill at March 31, 2025. Subsequent to March 31, 2025, the Company experienced a decline
in its market capitalization as a result of a decline in the Company’s stock price and, if this decline continues for a sustained period of time, or, if in future periods the Company were
to experience a decline in its expected results for its reporting units for a sustained period of time, the Company may be required to performa quantitative
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goodwill impairment test at an interim period and could be required to recognize a non-cash goodwill impairment charge at that time, which could be material.
The non-cash goodwill impairment charge during the three months ended March 31, 2024 relates to the disposition of an immaterial business.

Identifiable intangible assets that are separable and have determinable useful lives are valued separately and amortized over the period which reflects the pattern in which
the economic benefits of the assets are expected to be consumed. Identifiable intangible assets consisted of the following at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

March 31, 2025
Weighted-Average
Remaining Life (Years)
Tradenames, net of accumulated amortization of $52,547 $ 56,752 54
Payor contracts, net of accumulated amortization of $38,466 43,534 53
Identifiable intangible assets, net $ 100,286
December 31,2024
Weighted-Average
Remaining Life (Years)
Tradenames, net of accumulated amortization of $49,736 $ 59,964 5.6
Payor contracts, net of accumulated amortization of $36,416 45,584 5.6
Identifiable intangible assets, net $ 105,548

Amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets, which is included in depreciation and amortization, excluding patient equipment depreciation, in the
accompanying statements of operations was $5.2 million and $5.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Future amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets is estimated to be as follows (in thousands):

Twelve months ending March 31,

2026 $ 20,054
2027 18,454
2028 17,626
2029 17,626
2030 17,626
Thereafter 8,900

Total $ 100,286

The Company did not recognize any impairment charges related to identifiable intangible assets during the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024.
(7) Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ("ASC 820"), creates a single definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
U.S. GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value
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measurements. Assets and liabilities adjusted to fair value in the balance sheet are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their
fair value. Level inputs, as defined by ASC 820, are as follows:

Level input Input Definition

Level 1 Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets at the measurement date.

Level 2 Inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability through corroboration with market data at the
measurement date.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date.

The following table presents the valuation of the Company’s financial assets as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The
fair value estimates presented herein are based on information available to management as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024. These estimates are not necessarily indicative
ofthe amounts the Company could ultimately realize.

(in thous ands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

March 31, 2025

Assets

Interest rate swap agreements - short term $ — 3 2,124 ' § —
Total assets measured at fair value $ — 3 2,124 $ —

(in thous ands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31,2024

Assets

Interest rate swap agreements - short term $ — 3 2,898 $ —

Interest rate swap agreements - long term — 132 —
Total assets measured at fair value $ — 8 3,030 $ —

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company uses interest rate swap agreements to manage interest rate risk by converting a portion of its variable rate borrowings to a fixed rate and recognizes these
derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The valuation of these derivative instruments is determined
using widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of
the derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatilities. The fair value of the Company’s
interest rate swaps is determined using the market standard methodology ofnetting the discounted future fixed cash payments and the discounted expected variable cash
payments receipts. The variable cash receipts are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived fromobservable market interest rate curves. To comply
with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, the Company incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own
nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’s nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. In adjusting the fair value of'its derivative contracts for the effect of
nonperformance risk, the Company has considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts and
guarantees.
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Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation
adjustments associated with the Company’s derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by the Company and
the respective counterparties. The Company has determined that the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments made to its derivative contracts, which
determination was based on the fair value of each individual contract, was not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, all of the Company’s derivatives held as of March 31,
2025 and December 31, 2024 were classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. See Note 8, Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, for additional information regarding
the Company’s derivative instruments.

Non-Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis
During the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, there were no fair value measurements on a non-recurring basis for the Company’s non-financial assets.
(8) Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company records all derivatives on its consolidated balance sheet at fair value. As of March 31, 2025, the Company had outstanding interest rate derivatives with
third parties in which the Company pays a fixed interest rate and receives a rate equal to the one-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("Term SOFR"). The notional amount
associated with the Company's interest rate swap agreements that were outstanding as of March 31, 2025 was $250 million and have a maturity date in January 2026. The Company
has designated its swaps as effective cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps are recognized as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity and subsequently reclassified into interest expense in the same period during which the hedged transaction
affects eamings.

The table below presents the fair value of the Company’s derivatives related to its interest rate swap agreements, which are designated as hedging instruments, as well as
their classification in the consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

March 31,2025 December 31,2024
Balance Sheet Location Asset
Prepaid and other current assets $ 2,124 $ 2,898
Other assets — 132
Total $ 2,124 $ 3,030

During the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, as a result of the effect of cash flow hedge accounting, the Company recognized a loss, net of tax, of $0.7 million
and a gain, net of tax, of $1.2 million, respectively, in other comprehensive income (loss). In addition, during the three months ended March 31, 2024, $0.4 million was reclassified
from other comprehensive income (loss) and recognized as a reduction to interest expense, net, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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(9) Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2025 2024
Accounts payable 294331 $ 284,602
Employee-related accruals 49,306 54,627
Accrued interest 9,974 28,818
Other 67,583 69,938
Total 421,194 § 437,985
(10) Debt
The following is a summary of long term-debt as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 (in thousands):
March 31, December 31,
2025 2024
Secured term loan 525,000 $ 550,000
Senior unsecured notes 1,450,000 1,450,000
Unamortized deferred financing fees (17,688) (18,829)
1,957,312 1,981,171
Current portion (16,250) (16,250)
L()ng.terrn porti()n 1,941 ,062 $ 1,964,921

On September 13, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment to its then existing credit agreement (as amended, the "2024 Credit Agreement”). The 2024 Credit
Agreement includes a $650 million termloan (the "2024 Term Loan"), and $300 million in revolving credit commitments (the "2024 Revolver", and together with the 2024 Term Loan,
the "2024 Credit Facility") with a $55 million letter of credit sublimit. The 2024 Credit Facility matures in September 2029. However, if the 6.125% Senior Notes (as defined below)
have not been refinanced (to extend the maturity date to a date that is later than December 13, 2029) or repaid in full, on or prior to December 31, 2027, then the 2024 Credit Facility
will mature on May 1, 2028; and, if the 4.625% Senior Notes (as defined below) have not been refinanced (to extend the maturity date to a date that is later than December 13, 2029)
or repaid in full, on or prior to December 31, 2028, then the 2024 Credit Facility will mature on May 1, 2029. At the option of the Company, amounts borrowed under the 2024 Credit
Facility bear interest at variable rates based upon either the Base Rate (as defined in the 2024 Credit Agreement), payable quarterly, or Term SOFR (as defined in the 2024 Credit
Agreement), payable monthly or every three months depending on the interest period selected. Interest periods for Term SOFR loans are available for one, three, or sixmonths at
the option of the Company. Base Rate loans accrue interest at a per annumrate equal to the sumof'(a) the Base Rate determined on each day (subject to a zero percent floor), plus
an applicable margin ranging from 0.50% to 2.25% per annumbased on the Company's Consolidated Senior Secured Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 2024 Credit Agreement). Term
SOFR loans accrue interest at a per annumrate equal to the sumof'(a) Term SOFR for the applicable interest period (subject to a zero percent floor), plus (b) an applicable margin
ranging from 1.50% to 3.25% per annumbased on the Company's Consolidated Senior Secured Leverage Ratio. The 2024 Revolver carries a commitment fee during the termof the
2024 Credit Agreement ranging from 0.25% to 0.50% per annum of the actual daily undrawn portion of the 2024 Revolver depending upon the Company's Consolidated Senior
Secured Leverage Ratio.

Under the 2024 Credit Agreement, the Company is subject to a number of restrictive covenants that, among other things, impose operating and financial restrictions on
the Company. Financial covenants include a Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio and a Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio, both as defined in the 2024 Credit Agreement. The
2024 Credit Agreement also contains certain customary events of default, including, among other things, failure to make payments when due thereunder, failure to observe or
performcertain covenants, cross-defaults, bankruptcy and insolvency-related events, and
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non-compliance with healthcare laws. The Company was in compliance with the applicable covenants in the 2024 Credit Agreement as of March 31, 2025.

Any borrowing under the 2024 Credit Agreement may be repaid, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time without premium or penalty, other than customary
breakage costs, and any amounts repaid under the 2024 Revolver may be reborrowed. Mandatory prepayments are required under the 2024 Revolver when borrowings and letter of
credit usage exceed the total commitments for revolving credit loans. Mandatory prepayments are also required in connection with certain dispositions of assets and receipt of
certain insurance proceeds or condemnation awards to the extent proceeds thereof are not reinvested, and unpermitted debt transactions.

Term Loan

As of March 31, 2025, the outstanding borrowings under the 2024 Term Loan requires quarterly principal repayments of $4.1 million through September 30, 2026,
increasing to $8.1 million from December 31, 2026 through June 30, 2029, and the remaining unpaid principal balance is due in September 2029. During the three months ended
March 31, 2025, the Company made a voluntary repayment on the 2024 Term Loan of $20.9 million. At March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, there was $525.0 million and $550.0
million, respectively, outstanding under the 2024 Term Loan. The per annum interest rate under the 2024 Term Loan was 5.82% at March 31, 2025.

Revolving Credit Facility

There were no borrowings under the 2024 Revolver during the three months ended March 31, 2025. At March 31, 2025, there was $22.4 million outstanding under letters of
credit. Borrowings under the 2024 Revolver may be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes, including for capital expenditures and acquisitions permitted
under the 2024 Credit Agreement. At March 31, 2025, based on the financial debt covenants under the 2024 Credit Agreement, the maximum amount the Company could borrow
under the 2024 Revolver and remain in compliance with the financial debt covenants under the agreement was $277.6 million.

Senior Unsecured Notes

In August 2021, the Company issued $600.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.125% senior unsecured notes (the "5.125% Senior Notes"). The 5.125% Senior Notes
will mature on March 1, 2030. Interest on the 5.125% Senior Notes is payable on March 1st and September 1st of each year. The 5.125% Senior Notes will be redeemable at the
Company’s option, in whole or in part, at any time on or after March 1, 2025, and the redemption price for the 5.125% Senior Notes if redeemed during the 12 months beginning (i)
March 1, 2025 is 102.563%, (i) March 1, 2026 is 101.281%, (iii) March 1, 2027 and thereafter is 100.000%, in each case together with accrued and unpaid interest. The Company may
also redeem some or all of the 5.125% Senior Notes before March 1, 2025 at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the 5.125% Senior Notes, plus a "make-whole”
premium, together with accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, the Company may redeemup to 40% of the original aggregate principal amount of the 5.125% Senior Notes before
March 1, 2025 with the proceeds from certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 105.125% of the principal amount of the 5.125% Senior Notes, together with accrued
and unpaid interest. Furthermore, the Company may be required to make an offer to purchase the 5.125% Senior Notes upon the sale of certain assets or upon specific kinds of
changes of control.

In January 2021, the Company issued $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.625% senior unsecured notes (the "4.625% Senior Notes"). The 4.625% Senior Notes
will mature on August 1, 2029. Interest on the 4.625% Senior Notes is payable on February Ist and August Ist of each year. The 4.625% Senior Notes are redeemable at the
Company’s option, in whole or in part, and the redemption price for the 4.625% Senior Notes if redeemed during the 12 months beginning (i) February 1, 2025 is 101.156% and (ii)
February 1, 2026 and thereafter is 100.000%, in each case together with accrued and unpaid interest. Furthermore, the Company may be required to make an offer to purchase the
4.625% Senior Notes upon the sale of certain assets or upon specific kinds of changes of control.

In July 2020, the Company issued $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.125% senior unsecured notes (the "6.125% Senior Notes"). The 6.125% Senior Notes will
mature on August 1, 2028. Interest on the 6.125% Senior Notes is payable on February 1st and August 1st of each year. The 6.125% Senior Notes are redeemable at the Company’s
option, in whole or in part, and the redemption price for the 6.125% Senior Notes if redeemed during the 12 months beginning (i) August 1, 2024 is 102.042%, (ii) August 1,2025 is
101.021% and (iii) August 1, 2026 and thereafter is 100.000%, in each
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case together with accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, the Company may be required to make an offer to purchase the 6.125% Senior Notes upon the sale of certain assets or
upon specific kinds of changes of control.

(11) Stockholders' Equity

Under the Company's Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, there are 300,000,000 shares of authorized Common Stock and 5,000,000 shares of
authorized Preferred Stock. Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share. The shares of Preferred Stock shall be issued with such designations, voting and
other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Company’s board of directors.

Warrants

The Company had 3,871,557 outstanding warrants which expired on November 8, 2024. Prior to expiration, the Company classified its warrants as a lability in its
consolidated balance sheets and the change in the estimated fair value of the warrant was recognized as a non-cash charge or gain in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations. During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company recognized a non-cash charge of $7.5 million for the change in the estimated fair value of the warrant
Lability.

Equity-based Compensation

In connection with the Company’s 2019 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2019 Plan"), the Company provides equity-based compensation to attract and retain employees while
also aligning employees’ interest with the interests of its stockholders. The 2019 Plan permits the grant of various equity-based awards to selected employees and non-employee
directors. On June 20, 2024, the stockholders of the Company approved an amendment and restatement of the 2019 Plan to increase the number of shares of Common Stock of the
Company reserved and available for issuance under the 2019 Plan by 8,350,000 shares (and increase the number of incentive stock options that may be granted under the 2019 Plan
by the same amount), to permit the grant of up to 18,350,000 shares of Common Stock, subject to certain adjustments and limitations. At March 31, 2025, 7,573,581 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock were available for issuance under the 2019 Plan.

Stock Options

There were no stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024. The following table provides the activity regarding the Company’s
outstanding stock options during the three months ended March 31, 2025 that were granted in connection with the 2019 Plan (in thousands, except per share data):

Weighted-Average
Grant Date ‘Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Number of Fair Value Exercise Price Remaining
Options per Share per Share Contractual Term
Outstanding, December 31, 2024 1,250 $ 212§ 11.50 1.1 Years
Expired (834) $ 212§ 11.50
Outstanding, March 31, 2025 416 § 212 $ 11.50 2.4 Years
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The following table provides the activity for all outstanding stock options during the three months ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands, except per share data):

Weighted-Average ‘Weighted-Average
Number of Exercise Price Remaining
Options per Share Contractual Term
Outstanding, December 31, 2024 2,195 $ 9.67 2.4 Years
Exercised — 3 —
Expired 834) $ 11.50
Outstanding, March 31, 2025 1,361 $ 8.54 3.4 Years

There were no stock option exercises during the three months ended March 31, 2025. During the three months ended March 31, 2024, 176,623 stock options were exercised
resulting in $0.5 million of cash proceeds received by the Company and the issuance of 176,623 shares of the Company’s Common Stock.

Restricted Stock
During the three months ended March 31, 2025, the Company granted the following shares of restricted stock:

* 1,476,476 shares ofrestricted stock to various employees which vest ratably over the three-year period following the vesting commencement dates, subject to the
employees’ continuous employment through the applicable vesting date. The grant-date fair value of these awards was $16.0 million.

* 732,379 shares of performance-vested restricted stock units ("Performance RSUs") to senior executive management of the Company which will vest on the third
anniversary of the vesting commencement date subject to the achievement of specified goals relative to the Company’s three-year relative total shareholder return
("Relative TSR") performance versus the Company’s defined peer group (the "Peer Group"), which is considered a market condition, and is also subject to the employees’
continuous employment through the vesting date. The grant-date fair value of these awards, using a Monte-Carlo simulation analysis, was $12.4 million. The payout of
shares on the vesting date are as follows based on the Company’s Relative TSR versus the Peer Group (for performance between the stated goals noted below, straight-
line interpolation will be applied):

+  Less than 25th Percentile — No payout

+  Greater than or equal to 25t Percentile — 50% of Performance RSUs
+  Equal to 50t Percentile — 100% of Performance RSUs

Greater than or equal to 75th Percentile — 200% of Performance RSUs
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Activity related to the Company’s non-vested restricted stock grants for the three months ended March 31, 2025 is presented below (in thousands, except per share data):

Weighted-Average
Number of Shares of Grant Date
Restricted Stock Fair Value per Share
Non-vested balance, December 31, 2024 3,078 $ 13.99
Granted 2,209 $ 12.85
Vested 411 $ 15.02
Forfeited (220) $ 25.35
Non-vested balance, March 31, 2025 4,656 $ 12.86

Equity-Based Compensation Expense

The Company recognized equity-based compensation expense of $5.3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2025, of which $4.1 million and $1.2 million is
included in general and administrative expenses and cost of net revenue, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company recognized
equity-based compensation expense of $4.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2024, of which $3.3 million and $1.2 million is included in general and administrative
expenses and cost of net revenue, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

At March 31, 2025, there was $47.2 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to equity-based compensation awards, which is expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of 2.4 years.

(12) Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Earmings (Loss) Per Share ("EPS") is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period on a basic

and diluted basis. The Company computes diluted net income (loss) per share using the more dilutive of the treasury stock method and the two-class method after giving effect to
all potential dilutive Common Stock.

The Company’s potentially dilutive securities include potential common shares related to unvested restricted stock, outstanding stock options and outstanding preferred
stock. See Note 11, Stockholders' Equity, for additional discussion of these potential dilutive securities.

Diluted net income (loss) per share considers the impact of potentially dilutive securities except when the potential common shares have an antidilutive effect. The
Company’s outstanding preferred stock are considered participating securities, thus requiring the two-class method of computing diluted net income (loss) per share. Computation
of diluted net income (loss) per share under the two-class method excludes fromthe numerator any dividends paid or owed on participating securities and any undistributed
earnings considered to be attributable to participating securities. The related participating securities are similarly excluded fromthe denominator.

Computations of basic and diluted net loss per share were as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
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Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024
Numerator

Net loss attributable to AdaptHealth Corp. $ (7207) $ (2,134)
Less: Eamnings allocated to participating securities (I — —

Net loss for basic EPS $ (7207)  $ 2,134
Change in fair value of warrant liability @ — —

Net loss for diluted EPS $ (7207) % (2,134

Denominator ()@

Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 134,799 132914
Add: Warrants @ —
Add: Stock options —
Add: Unvested restricted stock —

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 134,799 132,914

Basic net loss per share $ 0.05 $ (0.02)
Diluted net loss per share $ 0.05 $ (0.02)

(1) The Company’s preferred stock are considered participating securities. Computation of EPS under the two-class method excludes fromthe numerator any dividends paid
or owed on participating securities and any undistributed eamings considered to be attributable to participating securities. The related participating securities are similarly
excluded fromthe denominator. There were no amounts allocated to the participating securities during the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 due to the net
loss reported in those periods.

(2) Under the treasury stock method, the impact on eamings fromthe change in fair value of the Company's warrant liability was excluded from the numerator, and the
corresponding security was included in the denominator, for purposes of computing diluted net loss per share if the effect of the adjustment was dilutive to EPS. For the
three months ended March 31, 2024, this adjustment was excluded fromthe computation of diluted net loss per share since its inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
This adjustment was not applicable to the computation of diluted net loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 2025 since the warrants were not outstanding
during that period.

Due to the Company reporting net loss attributable to AdaptHealth Corp. for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, all potentially dilutive securities related to
unvested restricted stock and outstanding stock options were excluded fromthe computation of diluted net loss per share for those periods as their inclusion would have been
anti-dilutive.

The table below provides the weighted-average number of potential common shares associated with outstanding securities not included in the Company’s computation of
diluted net loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 because to do so would be anti-dilutive (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,
2025 2024
Preferred Stock 12,406 12,406
Warrants — 3,872
Stock options 1,361 2,498
Unvested restricted stock 4,656 2,934
Total 18,423 21,710

28



Table of Contents

ADAPTHEALTH CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)

(13) Leases

The Company leases its operating locations and office facilities under noncancelable lease agreements which expire at various dates through May 2038. Some of these
lease agreements include an option to renew at the end of the term. The Company also leases certain office facilities on a month-to-month basis. In some instances, the Company is
also required to pay its pro rata share of real estate taxes and utility costs in connection with the premises. Some of the leases contain fixed annual increases of minimumrent.

The Company’s leases frequently allow for lease payments that could vary based on factors such as inflation and the incurrence of contractual charges such as those for
common area maintenance or utilities.

Renewal and/or early termination options are common in the lease arrangements, particularly with respect to real estate leases. The Company’s right-of-use ("ROU")
assets and lease liabilities generally include periods covered by renewal options and exclude periods covered by early termination options (based on the conclusion that it is
reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such renewal options and not exercise such early termination options).

The Company is also party to certain sublease arrangements related to real estate leases, where the Company acts as the lessee and intermediate lessor.

The Company leases certain of its vehicles through finance leases. The finance lease obligations represent the present value of minimum lease payments under the
respective agreement, payable monthly at various interest rates.

The following table presents information about lease costs and expenses and sublease income for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 (in thousands). The
amounts below, with the exception of interest on lease liabilities, are included in cost of net revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the periods
presented. The interest on lease liabilities is included in interest expense, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented.

Three Months Ended March 31,
2025 2024
Operating lease costs $ 11,054 $ 13,046
Finance lease costs:
Amortization of ROU assets $ 3374 $ 2,255
Interest on lease liabilities $ 647 $ 507
Other lease costs and income:
Variable leases costs (1) $ 6298 $ 5,871
Sublease income $ 170 $ 280

() Amounts represent variable costs incurred that were not included in the initial measurement of the lease liability such as common area maintenance and utilities costs
associated with leased real estate.
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The following table provides the weighted average remaining lease terms and weighted average discount rates for the Company’s leases as of March 31, 2025 and
December 31, 2024:

March 31, 2025 December 31,2024
Weighted average remaining lease term, weighted based on lease liability balances:
Operating leases S.1years 5.2 years
Finance leases 3.0 years 3.1 years
Weighted average discount rate, weighted based on remaining balance of lease payments:
Operating leases 49 % 49 %
Finance leases 6.7 % 69 %

The following table provides the undiscounted amount of future cash flows related to the Company’s operating and finance leases, as well as a reconciliation of such
undiscounted cash flows to the amounts included in the Company’s lease labilities as of March 31, 2025 (in thousands):

Operating Leases Finance Leases

2025 $ 24876  $ 14,252
2026 27,461 15,548
2027 20,301 11,810
2028 15,212 4,652
2029 9,890 478
Thereafter 20,654 —
Total future undiscounted lease payments $ 118394 §$ 46,740
Less: amount representing interest (14,871) (4,306)

Present value of future lease payments (lease liability) $ 103,523  § 42,434

The following table provides certain cash flow and supplemental non-cash information related to the Company’s lease liabilities for the three months ended March 31,
2025 and 2024, respectively (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities: 2025 2024
Operating cash payments for operating leases $ 9366 $ 12,876
Financing cash payments for finance leases $ 3221 $ 2,291

Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets:

Operating leases $ 3483 $ 12,987
Finance leases $ 7388 $ 1,023

(14) Income Taxes

The Company is subject to U.S. federal, state, and local income taxes. For the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company recorded income tax expense of
$0.9 million and $6.6 million, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company recognized a $0.5 million income tax benefit, and corresponding increase to net
deferred taxassets, related to a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $6.5 million. See Note 6, Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets, for additional details.

As of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company had an unrecognized tax benefit of $2.7 million.
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Tax Receivable Agreement

AdaptHealth Corp. is party to a TaxReceivable Agreement ("TRA") with certain current and former members of AdaptHealth Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company ("AdaptHealth Holdings"). The TRA provides for the payment by AdaptHealth Corp. of 85% of the taxsavings, if any, that AdaptHealth Corp. realizes (or is deemed to
realize in certain circumstances) as a result of (i) certain tax attributes of the corresponding sellers existing prior to the Business Combination; (ii) certain increases in tax basis
resulting from exchanges of New AdaptHealth Units and shares of Class B Common Stock; (iii) imputed interest deemed to be paid by the Company as a result of payments it
makes under the TRA; and (iv) certain increases in tax basis resulting from payments the Company makes under the TRA. Under the TRA, the benefits deemed realized by the
Company as a result of the increase in tax basis attributable to the AdaptHealth Holdings members generally will be computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of the
Company to the amount of such taxes that the Company would have been required to pay had there been no such increase in taxbasis.

At March 31, 2025, the Company's liability relating to the TRA was $265.4 million, of which $26.2 million and $239.2 million is included in other current liabilities and other
long-term liabilities, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2024, the Company’s liability relating to the TRA was $290.4 million, of which
$25.0 million and $265.4 million is included in other liabilities and other long-term liabilities, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(15) Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time and in the normal course of business, the Company is subject to loss contingencies, arising from legal proceedings, claims, and governmental and other
investigations under or with respect to various governmental programs and state and federal laws relating to its business, including as a result of or following acquisitions and
other business activities, that cover a wide range of matters. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 450, Accounting for Contingencies, the Company records accruals for such loss
contingencies when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. If there is no probable estimate within a range of
reasonably possible outcomes, the Company’s policy is to record at the low end of the range of such reasonably possible outcomes. Significant judgment is required to determine
both probability and the estimated amount. The Company reviews its accruals at least quarterly and adjusts accordingly to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings,
advice of legal counsel, and updated information. At this time, the Company has no material accruals related to lawsuits, claims, investigations or proceedings. While there can be
no assurance, based on the Company’s evaluation of information currently available, the Company’s management believes any liability that may ultimately result fromresolution of
such loss contingencies will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial conditions or results of operations. However, the Company’s assessment may change in
the future based upon availability of new information and further developments in the proceedings of such matters. The results of legal proceedings, claims and investigations are
inherently uncertain, and material adverse outcomes are possible. Professional legal fees associated with any such legal proceedings, claims and investigations are expensed as
they are incurred.

On May 2, 2022, the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the Southern District of New York issued a civil investigative demand to a subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to the
False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3733 ("FCA") regarding whether the subsidiary submitted false claims in violation of the FCA related to its billing of, and reimbursements from, federal
health care programs for ventilators provided to patients fromJanuary 1, 2015 to the present. The Company is fully cooperating with the investigation. Given the stage of the
investigation, it is not possible to determine whether it will have a material adverse effect on the Company.

On October 24, 2023, Allegheny County Employees’ Retirement System, a purported shareholder of the Company, filed a purported class action complaint against the
Company and certain of'its current and former officers, and certain underwriters in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. On January 23, 2024, the
court entered an order appointing Allegheny County Employees' Retirement System, International Union of Operating Engineers, Local No. 793, Members Pension Benefit Trust of
Ontario, and City of Tallahassee Pension Plan as Lead Plaintiffs (the "Allegheny Lead Plaintiffs"). On May 14, 2024, Allegheny Lead Plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint
against the Company and certain of'its current and former officers and directors, and certain underwriters, on behalf of shareholders that purchased or otherwise acquired the
Company’s stock between August 4, 2020 and November 7, 2023 (as to the complaint the "Allegheny County Consolidated Complaint™; as to the action, the "Allegheny County
Consolidated Class Action”). The Allegheny County Consolidated Complaint alleges, among other things, that the defendants violated federal securities laws
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by making allegedly false and misleading statements and/or failing to disclose material information regarding (i) the Company’s billing practices with respect to its diabetes product
category, and (ii) the Company’s compliance programs and integration with respect to acquired companies. The Allegheny County Consolidated Complaint seeks unspecified
damages. On July 23, 2024, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Allegheny County Consolidated Complaint. The Allegheny Lead Plaintiffs filed their opposition brief on
October 1, 2024, and defendants filed their reply brief on November 15, 2024.

The Company intends to vigorously defend against the allegations contained in the Allegheny County Complaint, but there can be no assurance that the defense will be
successful.

On March 20, 2024, a putative sharecholder of the Company, Weiding Wu, filed a shareholder derivative complaint related to the allegations in the Allegheny County
Complaint, and against certain current and former directors and officers of the Company in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (as to the
complaint, the "Wu Derivative Complaint”; as to the action, the "Wu Derivative Action”). The Wu Derivative Complaint alleges, among other things, that the defendants breached
their fiduciary duties and violated federal securities laws by making allegedly false and misleading statements and/or failing to disclose material information regarding the
Company’s organic growth in its diabetes product category. The Wu Derivative Complaint also alleges claims for unjust enrichment, waste of corporate assets, abuse of control,
and gross mismanagement. The Wu Derivative Complaint seeks, among other things, an award of money damages.

On July 25, 2024, the parties to the Wu Derivative Action stipulated to stay the Wu Derivative Action pending final resolution of the Allegheny County Consolidated
Class Action. On July 26, 2024, the court so-ordered the parties’ stipulation.

The Company intends to vigorously defend against the allegations contained in the Wu Derivative Complaint, but there can be no assurance that the defense will be
successful.

On July 29, 2024, the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of South Carolina issued a civil investigative demand to the Company pursuant to the FCA regarding whether
the Company submitted false claims in violation of the FCA related to its billing of, and reimbursements from, federal health care programs for humidifiers that are integrated with
CPAP devices and provided to patients fromJanuary 1, 2017 to the present.

The Company is fully cooperating with the investigation. Given the stage of the investigation, it is not possible to determine whether it will have a material adverse effect
on the Company.

On March 8, 2025, the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania issued a civil investigative demand to the Company pursuant to the FCA
surrounding whether the Company submitted false claims in violation of the FCA related to its billing of, and reimbursements from, federal health care programs for respiratory
devices and related supplies provided to patients fromJanuary 1, 2018 to the present. The Company is fully cooperating with the investigation. Given the stage of the
investigation, it is not possible to determine whether it will have a material adverse effect on the Company.

(16) Related Party Transactions

The Company owns an equity interest in a vendor that provides automated order intake software. The expense related to this vendor was $2.8 million and $3.4 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The Company accounts for this investment under the cost method of accounting based on its level of equity
ownership. As of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company had an immaterial outstanding accounts payable balance to this vendor.

A director of the Company serves on the board of directors of a third-party payor that does business with the Company in the normal course of providing services to
patients. Net revenue fromthis third-party payor was approximately 1.0% of the Company’s consolidated net revenue during the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024. As
of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company had an immaterial outstanding accounts receivable balance fromthis third-party payor.

A director of the Company is an employee of a beneficial owner of more than 5% of the Company’s Common Stock as of March 31, 2025. This beneficial owner is also a
minority shareholder of a vendor that provides medical equipment and
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Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)

supplies to the Company in the normal course of business. Payments to this vendor were approximately $26.9 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025
and 2024, respectively. As of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company had an immaterial outstanding accounts payable balance to this vendor.

(17) Subsequent Events

On May 1, 2025, the Company closed on its previously disclosed disposition of a business that was included in its Wellness at Home segment. In connection with the
closing, the Company received proceeds of approximately $68.8 million. Pursuant to the terms of the 2024 Credit Agreement, as a result of the closing of this transaction, on May 2,
2025, the Company elected to make a prepayment of $68.8 million on the 2024 Term Loan. Additionally, on May 2, 2025, the Company made a $1.2 million voluntary prepayment on
the 2024 Term Loan.

On May 1, 2025, the Company signed a definitive agreement for the disposition of a business that is included in its Wellness at Home segment, which is expected to close
in the second quarter of 2025.

The Company evaluated subsequent events for the period from March 31, 2025 through the date that the Company’s consolidated financial statements were available to
be issued. There were no other subsequent events requiring adjustment to the Company’s consolidated financial statements or additional disclosure.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with AdaptHealth Corp.’s ("AdaptHealth” or the "Company”’) consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes included in this report. Allamounts presented are in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP”), except as noted. In
addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause actual results to differ
materially frommanagement’s expectations. Factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in Item 1A, "Risk Factors”, in our 2024
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 25, 2025. Certain amounts that appear in this section may not sumdue to rounding.

Reclassifications

During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company previously classified certain expenses, primarily related to revenue cycle management costs, as a component
of Cost of net revenue in its Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the three months ended March 31, 2025, the Company has classified these costs within General and
administrative expenses to better align with common industry practice, and has reclassified these costs in its Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended
March 31, 2024 to conformto the current period presentation. During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company reclassified $40.7 million from Cost of net revenue to
General and administrative expenses. The resulting reclassifications had no impact on the Company's historical reported net revenue, operating income (loss), or cash flows from
operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024.

AdaptHealth Corp. Overview
AdaptHealth is a national leader in providing patient-centered, healthcare-at-home solutions including home medical equipment ("HME"), medical supplies, and related

services. The Company operates under four reportable segments that align with its product categories: (i) Sleep Health, (ii) Respiratory Health, (iii) Diabetes Health, and (iv)
Wellness at Home. A description of the products and services provided within each of the Company’s four reportable segments is provided below.

Sleep Health

The Sleep Health segment provides sleep therapy equipment, supplies and related services (including CPAP and Bilevel services) to individuals for the treatment of
obstructive sleep apnea.

Respiratory Health

The Respiratory Health segment provides oxygen and home mechanical ventilation equipment and supplies and related chronic therapy services to individuals for the
treatment of respiratory diseases, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic respiratory failure.

Diabetes Health

The Diabetes Health segment provides medical devices, including continuous glucose monitors and insulin pumps, and related services to patients for the treatment of
diabetes.

Wellness at Home

The Wellness at Home segment provides home medical equipment and services to patients in their homes including those who have been discharged fromacute care and
other facilities. The segment tailors a service model to patients who are adjusting to new lifestyles or navigating complex disease states by providing essential medical supplies and
durable medical equipment.

The Company services beneficiaries of Medicare, Medicaid and commercial insurance payors. As of March 31, 2025, AdaptHealth serviced approximately 4.2 million

patients annually in all 50 states through its network of approximately 660 locations in 47 states. The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 555 East North Lane,
Suite 5075, Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428.
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Impact of Inflation

The cost to manufacture and distribute the equipment and products that AdaptHealth provides to patients is influenced by the cost of materials, labor, and transportation,
including fuel costs. Current and future inflationary effects may be driven by, among other things, general inflationary cost increases, supply chain disruptions and governmental
stimulus or fiscal policies. Increases in inflation could impact the overall demand for AdaptHealth’s products and services, availability of materials, its costs for labor, equipment
and products, shipping, warehousing and other operational overhead and the margins it is able to realize on its products, all of which could have an adverse impact on
AdaptHealth’s business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, it is not certain whether AdaptHealth would be able to pass increased costs onto
customers to offset inflationary pressures. AdaptHealth has experienced inflationary pressure and higher costs as a result of increased cost of materials, labor and transportation.
The increase in the cost of equipment and products is due in part to higher cost of shipping and general inflationary cost increases. Although there have been increases in
inflation, AdaptHealth cannot predict whether these trends will continue. AdaptHealth’s mitigation efforts relating to these inflationary pressures include utilizing AdaptHealth’s
purchasing power in negotiations with vendors and the increased use of technology to drive operating efficiencies and control costs, such as AdaptHealth’s digital platform for
prescriptions, orders and delivery.

Key Components of Operating Results

Net Revenue. Net revenue is recognized for services and related products that AdaptHealth provides to patients for healthcare-at-home solutions including home medical
equipment ("HME"), medical supplies and related services. Revenues are recognized either at a point in time for the sale of supplies and disposables, over the service period for
equipment rental (including, but not limited to, CPAP machines, hospital beds, wheelchairs and other equipment), net of implicit price concessions for amounts estimated to be
received frompatients or under reimbursement arrangements with Medicare, Medicaid and other third-party payors, including private insurers, or in the month in which eligible
members are entitled to receive healthcare services in connection with at-risk capitation arrangements. Certain trends or uncertainties that may have a material impact on revenue
growth and operating results include the Company's ability to obtain new patient starts and to generate referrals from patient referral sources and the ability to meet the increased
demand considering inflationary pressures.

Cost of Net Revenue. Cost of net revenue primarily includes the cost of non-capitalized medical equipment and supplies, distribution expenses, labor costs, facilities and
vehicle rental costs, and depreciation for capitalized patient equipment. Distribution expenses represent the cost incurred to coordinate and deliver products and services to the
patients. Included in distribution expenses are leasing, maintenance, licensing and fuel costs for the vehicle fleet; salaries, benefits and other costs related to drivers and dispatch
personnel; and amounts paid to couriers.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses consist of corporate support costs including revenue cycle management costs, information
technology, human resources, finance, contracting, legal, compliance, equity-based compensation, and other administrative costs.

Depreciation and Amortization, Excluding Patient Equipment Depreciation. Depreciation expense includes depreciation charges for capital assets other than patient
equipment (which is included as part of the cost of net revenue). Amortization expense includes amortization of identifiable intangible assets.

Factors Affecting AdaptHealth’s Operating Results

AdaptHealth’s operating results and financial performance may be influenced by certain unique events during the periods discussed herein, including the following:
Seasonality

AdaptHealth’s business experiences some seasonality. Its patients are generally responsible for a greater percentage of the cost of their treatment or therapy during the
early months of the year due to co-insurance, co-payments and deductibles, and therefore may defer treatment and services of certain therapies until meeting their annual
deductibles. In addition, changes to employer insurance coverage often go into effect at the beginning of each calendar year which may impact eligibility requirements and delay or

defer treatment. Also, net revenue generated by AdaptHealth's Diabetes Health segment is typically higher in the fourth quarter compared to the earlier part of the year due to the
timing of when patients meet their
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annual deductibles and their associated reordering patterns. These factors may lead to lower net revenue and cash flow in the early part of the year versus the latter half of the
year. Additionally, the increased incidence of respiratory infections during the winter season may result in initiation of additional respiratory services such as oxygen therapy for
certain patient populations, which could impact the timing of revenue generated by AdaptHealth's Respiratory Health segment. AdaptHealth’s quarterly operating results may
fluctuate significantly in the future depending on these and other factors.
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Key Business Metrics

AdaptHealth focuses on Net revenue, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin and free cash flow as it reviews its performance. Refer to EBITDA,

Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin and free cash flow included in the non-GA AP measures section below.

Total net revenue is comprised of net sales revenue, net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements, and net revenue from capitated revenue arrangements.
Net sales revenue consists of revenue recognized at a point in time for the sale of supplies and disposables. Net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements consists of

revenue recognized over the service period for equipment (including, but not limited to, CPAP machines, oxygen concentrators, ventilators, hospital beds, wheelchairs and other

equipment). Net revenue from capitated revenue arrangements consists of revenue recognized in the month in which eligible members are entitled to receive healthcare services in

connection with at-risk capitation arrangements.

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Net Revenue Revenue Revenue
(in thousands, except revenue percentages) Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage
(Unaudited)
Net sales revenue:
Sleep Health 241,171 310 % $ 237,592 30.0 %
Respiratory Health 8,261 1.1 % 7,905 1.0 %
Diabetes Health 134,386 17.3 % 146,979 185 %
Wellness at Home 111,704 143 % 113,664 144 %
Total net sales revenue 495,522 637 % $ 506,140 63.9 %
Net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements:
Sleep Health 67,541 87 % § 80,690 102 %
Respiratory Health 142,174 183 % 137,232 173 %
Diabetes Health 2,834 04 % 2,279 03 %
Wellness at Home 36,986 4.7 % 34,137 43 %
Total net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements 249,535 321 % 8 254,338 321 %
Net revenue from capitated revenue arrangements:
Sleep Health 7,639 10 % $ 7,052 09 %
Respiratory Health 15,046 19 % 15,126 1.9 %
Diabetes Health 1,624 02 % 1,598 02 %
Wellness at Home 8,516 1.1 % 8,243 1.0 %
Total net revenue from capitated revenue arrangements 32,825 42 % $ 32,019 40 %
Total net revenue:
Sleep Health 316,351 40.7 % $ 325,334 411 %
Respiratory Health 165,481 213 % 160,263 202 %
Diabetes Health 138,844 179 % 150,856 19.0 %
Wellness at Home 157,206 20.1 % 156,044 197 %
Total net revenue 777,882 1000 % $ 792,497 100.0 %
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Results of Operations
Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2025 and Three Months Ended March 31, 2024.

The following table summarizes AdaptHealth’s consolidated results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2025 2024
Revenue Revenue Increase/(Decrease)
(in thousands, except percentages) Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage
(Unaudited)
Net revenue $ 777,882 100.0% $ 792,497 100.0% $ (14,615) (1.8)%
Costs and expenses:
Cost of net revenue (a) 657,444 84.5% 635,030 80.2% 22,414 3.5%
General and administrative expenses (a) 86,854 11.2% 89,041 11.2% (2,187) 2.5%
Depreciation and amortization, excluding patient equipment
depreciation 10,414 1.3% 11,365 1.4% (951) 84%
Goodwill impairment — —% 6,530 0.8% (6,530) (100.0)%
Total costs and expenses 754,712 97.0% 741,966 93.6% 12,746 1.7%
Operating income 23,170 3.0% 50,531 6.4% (27,361) (54.1) %
Interest expense, net 28,399 3.7% 32,472 4.1% (4,073) (12.5)%
Change in fair value of warrant liability — —% 7,453 09 % (7,453) (100.0)%
Other loss, net — —% 5,105 0.6 % (5,105) (100.0)%
(Loss) income before income taxes (5,229) 0.7)% 5,501 0.7% (10,730) (195.1) %
Income tax expense 850 0.1% 6,610 0.8% (5,760) 87.1)%
Net loss (6,079) 0.8)% 1,109) 0.1)% 4,970) 448.2 %
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest 1,128 0.1% 1,025 0.1% 103 10.0%
Net loss attributable to AdaptHealth Corp. $ (7207 09% $ 2134 03)% § (5,073) 237.7 %

(a) Certain amounts previously reported within Cost of net revenue have been reclassified to General and administrative expenses in order to conformto the current year
presentation. See Note 1(f), Reclassifications, included in the accompanying notes to the interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and

2024 for additional discussion of such reclassification.

Net Revenue. The comparability of AdaptHealth's net revenue between periods was impacted by certain factors as described below. The table below presents the items

that impacted the change in AdaptHealth's net revenue between periods.

Three Months Ended March 31,
Variance 2025 vs. 2024

(in thousands, except percentages) $ %
Revenue change driver: (Unaudited)
Change fromnon-acquired $ (16,782) 21D %
Change fromacquired 2,167 03 %
Total change in net revenue $ (14,615) 1.8)%
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Net revenue from AdaptHealth's Sleep Health segment decreased by $9.0 million, or 2.8%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period,
primarily due to a decrease in net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements from lower sleep rental products and related supplies, partially offset by an increase in
sleep sales revenue primarily froman increase in sales of CPAP resupply products. Net revenue from AdaptHealth's Respiratory Health segment increased by $5.2 million, or 3.3%,
for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period, primarily due to increased patient census driven by strong patient demand for respiratory products.
Net revenue from AdaptHealth's Diabetes Health segment decreased by $12.0 million, or 8.0%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period,
primarily due to a shift in diabetes patients by certain large commercial insurance and other payors from DME suppliers to dual-benefit and pharmacy-only suppliers, and lower net
revenue frominsulin pumps and supplies as a result of a shift toward more pumps being sold to patients through the pharmacy channel, as well as the effect from manufacturers
bringing additional distribution business in-house and a decrease in CGM patient census. Net revenue from AdaptHealth's Wellness at Home segment increased by $1.2 million, or
0.7% for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period, primarily due to increased revenues from HME products and certain other product categories
within this segment, partially offset by decreased revenues fromthe disposition of certain customrehab technology assets in the third quarter of 2024.

For the three months ended March 31, 2025, net sales revenue comprised 63.7% of total net revenue, compared to 63.9% of total net revenue for the three months ended
March 31, 2024. For the three months ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024, net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements comprised 32.1% of total net revenue.
For the three months ended March 31, 2025, net revenue from capitated revenue arrangements comprised 4.2% of total net revenue, compared to 4.0% of total net revenue for the
three months ended March 31, 2024.

Cost of Net Revenue.

The following table summarizes cost of net revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024
Revenue Revenue Increase/(Decrease)
(in thousands, except percentages) Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage
(Unaudited)
Costs of net revenue:
Cost of products and supplies $ 326,876 20 % $ 315,203 398 % $ 11,673 37 %
Salaries, labor and benefits 183,524 236 % 177,499 24 % 6,025 34 %
Patient equipment depreciation 83,931 108 % 81,511 103 % 2,420 30 %
Rent and occupancy 20,221 26 % 18,632 24 % 1,589 85 %
Other operating expenses 42,892 55 % 42,185 53 % 707 1.7 %
Total cost of net revenue $ 657,444 845 % § 635,030 802 % $ 22,414 35 %

Certain amounts previously reported within these categories of Cost of net revenue have been reclassified to General and administrative expenses in order to conformto
the current year presentation. See Note 1(f), Reclassifications, included in the accompanying notes to the interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended
March 31, 2025 and 2024 for additional discussion of such reclassification.

Cost of net revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was $657.4 million and $635.0 million, respectively, an increase of $22.4 million or 3.5%. Costs of
products and supplies increased by $11.7 million, primarily as a result of product mixand general inflationary cost increases. Salaries, labor and benefits increased by $6.0 million,
primarily due to annual merit increases and increases in benefits costs. Patient equipment depreciation increased by $2.4 million, primarily due to higher medical equipment prices,
partially offset by lower net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements. The increase in other operating expenses was primarily due to higher distribution expenses,
including increased vehicle rental costs and equipment repair costs.
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General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 were $86.9 million and $89.0 million
respectively, a decrease of $2.2 million or 2.5%. This decrease is primarily due to lower salaries, labor and benefits, legal fees and legal settlement costs, partially offset by higher
consulting expenses, software costs and equity-based compensation. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenue was 11.2% in the 2025 and 2024 period.
General and administrative expenses in the 2025 period included $4.1 million of equity-based compensation expense and other non-recurring expenses of $5.1 million, consisting of
$2.3 million of consulting expenses associated with asset dispositions, $1.6 million of consulting expenses associated with systems implementation activities, and $1.2 million of
other expenses. General and administrative expenses in the 2024 period included $3.3 million of equity-based compensation expense and other non-recurring expenses of $3.3
million, consisting of $1.2 million of expenses associated with litigation, $1.0 million of consulting expenses associated with systems implementation activities, $0.7 million of
consulting expenses associated with asset dispositions, and $0.4 million of other expenses.

Depreciation and amortization, excluding patient equipment depreciation. Depreciation and amortization, excluding patient equipment depreciation, for the three
months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was $10.4 million and $11.4 million, respectively, a decrease of $1.0 million, primarily related to lower intangible amortization expense.

Goodwill Impairment. The goodwill impairment charge for the three months ended March 31, 2024 relates to the disposition of certain immaterial custom rehab
technology assets during 2024.

Interest Expense, net. Interest expense, net for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was $28.4 million and $32.5 million, respectively, a decrease of $4.1
million. Interest expense related to AdaptHealth's credit agreement decreased by $5.7 million in 2025 compared to 2024 as a result of lower interest rates as well as lower average
outstanding borrowings in 2025 compared to 2024. This decrease was partially offset by an increase of $0.4 million related to AdaptHealth's finance leases in 2025 compared to
2024. In addition, the impact from AdaptHealth's interest rate swap agreements reduced interest expense by $0.9 million and $2.1 million in 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability. AdaptHealth had outstanding warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock, as discussed in Note 11, Stockholders’
Equity, to the accompanying March 31, 2025 interim consolidated financial statements. These warrants were liability-classified, and the change in fair value of the warrant liability
represented a non-cash charge in the three months ended March 31, 2024 for the change in estimated fair value of such liability during such period.

Other Loss, net. Other loss, net for the three months ended March 31, 2024 consisted of a pre-tax expense of $4.2 million for the change in fair value of shares of the
Company's Common Stock that were issued in July 2024 following final court approval of the settlement of a previously disclosed securities class action lawsuit, as well as an
expense of $0.9 million to settle a shareholder derivative complaint.

Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was $0.9 million and $6.6 million, respectively. The decrease in income tax
expense was primarily related to lower pre-tax income. Additionally, the Company recognized a $0.5 million income tax benefit, and corresponding increase to net deferred tax
assets, related to a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $6.5 million recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2024. See Note 6, Goodwill and Identifiable
Intangible Assets, for additional details.

EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

AdaptHealth uses EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin, which are financial measures that are not in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP, to analyze its financial results and believes that they are useful to investors, as a supplement to U.S. GAAP measures. In
addition, AdaptHealth’s ability to incur additional indebtedness and make investments under its existing credit agreement is governed, in part, by its ability to satisty tests based
on a variation of Adjusted EBITDA.

AdaptHealth defines EBITDA as net income (loss) attributable to AdaptHealth Corp., plus net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, interest expense, net,
income tax expense (benefit), and depreciation and amortization, including patient equipment depreciation.
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AdaptHealth defines Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA (as defined above), plus equity-based compensation expense, change in fair value of the warrant liability, goodwill
impairment, litigation settlement expense, and certain other non-recurring items of expense or income.

AdaptHealth defines Adjusted EBITDA Margin as Adjusted EBITDA (as defined above) as a percentage of net revenue.

AdaptHealth believes Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are useful to investors in evaluating AdaptHealth’s financial performance. AdaptHealth uses
Adjusted EBITDA as the profitability measure in its incentive compensation plans that have a profitability component and to evaluate acquisition opportunities, where it is most
often used for purposes of contingent consideration arrangements.

EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin should not be considered as measures of financial performance under U.S. GAAP, and the items excluded
from EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are significant components in understanding and assessing financial performance. Accordingly, these key business metrics have limitations
as an analytical tool. They should not be considered as an alternative to net income or any other performance measures derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP or as an alternative
to cash flows fromoperating activities as a measure of AdaptHealth’s liquidity.

The following unaudited table presents the reconciliation of net loss attributable to AdaptHealth Corp. to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, and the reconciliation of net
loss attributable to AdaptHealth Corp. as a percentage of net revenue to Adjusted EBITDA Margin, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024
(in thousands, except percentages) Dollars Revenue Percentage Dollars Revenue Percentage
(Unaudited)

Net loss attributable to AdaptHealth Corp. $ (7,207) (0.9% $ (2,134) 0.3)%
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest 1,128 0.1% 1,025 0.1%
Interest expense, net 28,399 3.7% 32,472 4.1%
Income tax expense 850 0.1% 6,610 0.8%
Depreciation and amortization, including patient equipment depreciation 94,345 12.1% 92,876 11.7%
EBITDA 117,515 15.1% 130,849 16.5%
Equity-based compensation expense (a) 5,296 0.7% 4,533 0.6%
Change in fair value of warrant liability (b) — —% 7,453 0.9%
Goodwill impairment (c) — —% 6,530 0.8%
Litigation settlement expense (d) — —% 5,105 0.6%
Other non-recurring expenses, net (¢) 5,127 0.6% 4,015 0.5%
Adjusted EBITDA $ 127,938 16.4% $ 158,485 20.0%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 16.4% 20.0%

(a) Represents equity-based compensation expense for awards granted to employees and non-employee directors.

(b) Represents a non-cash charge for the change in the estimated fair value of the warrant liability. See Note 11, Stockholders' Equity, included in the accompanying notes to
the interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2025 for additional discussion of such non-cash charge. These warrants expired on
November 8, 2024.

(c) Represents a non-cash goodwill impairment charge relating to an immaterial business disposal during 2024.

41



Table of Contents

(d) Represents a $4.2 million charge for the change in fair value of shares of Common Stock of the Company that were issued in July 2024 following final court approval of a
previously disclosed securities settlement, as well as an expense of $0.9 million to settle a shareholder derivative complaint.

(e) The 2025 period consists of $2.3 million of consulting expenses associated with asset dispositions, $1.6 million of consulting expenses associated with systems
implementation activities, and $1.2 million of other non-recurring expenses. The 2024 period consists of $1.2 million of expenses associated with litigation, $1.0 million of
consulting expenses associated with systems implementation activities, a $0.7 million write-down of assets, $0.7 million of consulting expenses associated with asset
dispositions, and $0.4 million of other non-recurring expenses.

Segment Results of Operations
Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2025 and Three Months Ended March 31, 2024.

Operating segments are defined as components of a public entity for which discrete financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the Chief Operating
Decision Maker ("CODM”) for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. AdaptHealth’s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer. AdaptHealth operates
under four reportable segments that align with its product categories: (i) Sleep Health, (ii) Respiratory Health, (iii) Diabetes Health, and (iv) Wellness at Home.

The CODM evaluates performance of the reportable segments based on Adjusted EBITDA. Refer to the section above titled "EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA Margin” for the Company’s definition of Adjusted EBITDA.

The following table summarizes the performance of the Company’s reportable segments for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024
(in thous ands) Net Revenue Adjusted EBITDA Net Revenue Adjusted EBITDA
(Unaudited)

Sleep Health $ 316,351 $ 63,627 $ 325334 § 79,536
Respiratory Health 165,481 45,478 160,263 45,359
Diabetes Health 138,844 6,388 150,856 20,560
Wellness at Home 157,206 12,445 156,044 13,030

Consolidated Totals (a) $ 777,882 $ 127,938 $ 792,497 $ 158,485

(a) See Note 5, Segment Information, in the accompanying notes to the interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 fora
reconciliation of consolidated Adjusted EBITDA to consolidated income (loss) before income taxes.
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Sleep Health Segment

The following table summarizes the Sleep Health segment’s performance for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Increase/(Decrease)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2025 vs. 2024
(in thous ands, except percentages) 2025 2024 Dollars Percentage
(Unaudited)
Net revenue $ 316,351 $ 325334 § (8,983) 2.8) %
Less:
Cost of products and supplies (1) 108,199 103,291 4,908 48 %
Labor cost (1) 80,720 78,032 2,688 34 %
Other operating expenses (1) 32,805 31,738 1,067 34 %
Other segment items (2) 31,000 32,737 (1,737) (5.3) %
Adjusted EBITDA 63,627 79,536 (15,909) (20.0) %
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 20.1% 24.4%
Patient equipment depreciation $ 38205 $ 02367 $ (4,162) 9.8) %

(1) Represents the significant segment expense categories disclosed in Note 5, Segment Information, in the accompanying notes to the interim consolidated financial
statements for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024.

(2) Other segment items include allocated costs related to various general and administrative functions, such as revenue cycle management (including billing and
collections), customer service, technology and communications, sales and marketing, accounting and finance, executive administration, human resources, information
technology and legal and compliance.

Net Revenue

Net revenue fromthe Sleep Health segment decreased by $9.0 million, or 2.8%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period, primarily due
to a decrease in net revenue from fixed monthly equipment reimbursements from lower sleep rental products and related supplies, partially offset by an increase in sleep sales
revenue primarily froman increase in sales of CPAP resupply products.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA fromthe Sleep Health segment decreased by $15.9 million or 20.0%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period,
primarily due to lower net revenue (as discussed above), as well as increased costs and expenses. The increase in the cost of products and supplies was primarily due to an
increase in sales revenue and general inflationary cost increases. The increase in labor cost was primarily due to annual merit increases and increases in benefits costs. The
increase in other operating expenses was primarily due to higher distribution expenses. The decrease in other segment items was due to a decrease in general and administrative
expenses that were allocated to the segment.
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Respiratory Health Segment

The following table summarizes the Respiratory Health segment’s performance for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Increase/(Decrease)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2025 vs. 2024
(in thousands, except percentages) 2025 2024 Dollars Percentage
(Unaudited)
Net revenue $ 165481 $ 160,263  $ 5218 33 %
Less:
Cost of products and supplies (1) 34,054 33,439 615 1.8 %
Labor cost (1) 54,059 49,681 4,378 88 %
Other operating expenses (1) 14,826 14,265 561 39 %
Other segment items (2) 17,064 17,519 (455) 2.6) %
Adjusted EBITDA 45,478 45,359 119 03 %
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 27.5% 28.3%
Patient equipment depreciation $ 31,116 $ 21,805 $ 9,311 27 %

(1) Represents the significant segment expense categories disclosed in Note 5, Segment Information, in the accompanying notes to the interim consolidated financial
statements for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024.

(2) Other segment items include allocated costs related to various general and administrative functions, such as revenue cycle management (including billing and
collections), customer service, technology and communications, sales and marketing, accounting and finance, executive administration, human resources, information
technology and legal and compliance.

Net Revenue

Net revenue fromthe Respiratory Health segment increased by $5.2 million, or 3.3%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period. The
increase was primarily due to increased patient census driven by strong patient demand for respiratory products.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA fromthe Respiratory Health segment increased by $0.1 million or 0.3%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period,

due to higher net revenue (as discussed above), offset by increased costs and expenses. The increase in the cost of products and supplies was primarily due to an increase in sales

revenue and general inflationary cost increases. The increase in labor cost was primarily due to annual merit increases and increases in benefits costs. The increase in other

operating expenses was primarily due to higher distribution expenses. The decrease in other segment items was due to a decrease in general and administrative expenses that were

allocated to the segment.
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Diabetes Health Segment

The following table summarizes the Diabetes Health segment’s performance for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Increase/(Decrease)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2025 vs. 2024
(in thousands, except percentages) 2025 2024 Dollars Percentage
(Unaudited)
Net revenue $ 138,344  $ 150,856  $ (12,012) (8.0) %
Less:
Cost of products and supplies (1) 104,069 100,889 3,180 32 %
Labor cost (1) 12,977 12,994 (17) ©.1) %
Other operating expenses (1) 1,856 1,698 158 93 %
Other segment items (2) 13,554 14,715 (1,161) (7.9) %
Adjusted EBITDA 6,388 20,560 (14,172) (68.9) %
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 4.6% 13.6%
Patient equipment depreciation $ 2270 $ 1,768 § 502 284 %

(1) Represents the significant segment expense categories disclosed in Note 5, Segment Information, in the accompanying notes to the interim consolidated financial
statements for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024.

(2) Other segment items include allocated costs related to various general and administrative functions, such as revenue cycle management (including billing and
collections), customer service, technology and communications, sales and marketing, accounting and finance, executive administration, human resources, information

technology and legal and compliance.

Net Revenue

Net revenue fromthe Diabetes Health segment decreased by $12.0 million, or 8.0%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period. The
decrease was primarily due to a shift in diabetes patients by certain large commercial insurance and other payors from DME suppliers to dual-benefit and pharmacy-only suppliers,

and lower net revenue frominsulin pumps and supplies as a result of a shift toward more pumps being sold to patients through the pharmacy channel, as well as the effect from
manufacturers bringing additional distribution business in-house and a decrease in CGM patient census.

Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA fromthe Diabetes Health segment decreased by $14.2 million or 68.9%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period,

due to lower net revenue (as discussed above), as well as increased costs and expenses. The increase in the cost of products and supplies was primarily due to product mix and
general inflationary cost increases. The decrease in other segment items was due to a decrease in general and administrative expenses that were allocated to the segment.
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Wellness at Home Segment

The following table summarizes the Wellness at Home segment’s performance for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Increase/(Decrease)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2025 vs. 2024
(in thousands, except percentages) 2025 2024 Dollars Percentage
(Unaudited)
Net revenue $ 157,206 $ 156,044 $ 1,162 07 %
Less:
Cost of products and supplies (1) 80,554 77,584 2,970 38 %
Labor cost (1) 34,547 35,582 (1,035) 29) %
Other operating expenses (1) 13,569 12,420 1,149 93 %
Other segment items (2) 16,091 17,428 (1,337) (1.7 %
Adjusted EBITDA 12,445 13,030 (585) 4.5) %
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 7.9% 8.4%
Patient equipment depreciation $ 12340 $ 15571  $ (3,231) (20.8) %

(1) Represents the significant segment expense categories disclosed in Note 5, Segment Information, in the accompanying notes to the interim consolidated financial
statements for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024.

(2) Other segment items include allocated costs related to various general and administrative functions, such as revenue cycle management (including billing and
collections), customer service, technology and communications, sales and marketing, accounting and finance, executive administration, human resources, information
technology and legal and compliance.

Net Revenue

Net revenue fromthe Wellness at Home segment increased by $1.2 million, or 0.7%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period. The
increase in the 2025 period is primarily due to increased revenues from HME products and certain other product categories within this segment, partially offset by decreased
revenues fromthe disposition of certain customrehab technology assets in the third quarter of 2024.

Adjusted EBITDA fromthe Wellness at Home segment decreased by $0.6 million or 4.5%, for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior year period,
due to higher cost and expenses, partially offset by higher net revenue (as discussed above). The increase in the cost of products and supplies was primarily due to product mix
and general inflationary cost increases. The increase in other operating expenses was primarily due to higher distribution expenses. The decrease in other segment items was due
to a decrease in general and administrative expenses that were allocated to the segment.

Free Cash Flow

AdaptHealth uses free cash flow, which is a financial measure that is not in accordance with U.S. GAAP, in its operational and financial decision-making and believes free
cash flow is useful to investors because similar measures are frequently used by securities analysts, investors, ratings agencies and other interested parties to evaluate
AdaptHealth's competitors and to measure the ability of companies to service their debt. AdaptHealth's presentation of free cash flow should not be construed as a measure of
liquidity or discretionary cash available to AdaptHealth to fund its cash needs, including investing in the growth ofits business and meeting its obligations.
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Free cash flow should not be considered as a measure of financial performance under U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, this key business metric has limitations as an analytical
tool. It should not be considered as an alternative to any performance measures derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities
as a measure of AdaptHealth’s liquidity.

AdaptHealth defines free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities less cash paid for purchases of equipment and other fixed assets. For further discussion
on free cash flow, including a reconciliation fromcash flows provided by operating activities, see Liquidity and Capital Resources - Free Cash Flow below.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

AdaptHealth’s principal sources of liquidity are its operating cash flows, borrowings under its credit agreements and other debt arrangements, and proceeds from equity
issuances. AdaptHealth has used these funds to meet its capital requirements, which primarily consist of capital expenditures including patient equipment, product and supply
costs, salaries, labor, benefits and other employee-related costs, third-party customer service, billing and collections and logistics costs, acquisitions, debt service, and to fund
share repurchases. AdaptHealth’s future capital expenditure requirements will depend on many factors, including its patient volume and revenue growth rates.

AdaptHealth’s capital expenditures are made in advance of patients beginning service. Certain operating costs are incurred at the beginning of the equipment service
period and during initial patient set up.

AdaptHealth believes that its expected operating cash flows, together with its existing cash and amounts available under its existing credit agreement, will continue to be
sufficient to fund its operations and growth strategies for at least the next twelve months.

AdaptHealth may seek additional equity or debt financing in connection with the growth of its business, primarily for acquisitions. In addition, economic conditions may
cause disruption in the capital markets, which could make financing more difficult and/or expensive. In the event that additional financing is required fromoutside sources,
AdaptHealth may not be able to raise it on acceptable terms or at all. If additional capital is unavailable when desired, AdaptHealth’s business, results of operations, and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.

As of March 31, 2025, AdaptHealth had approximately $53.7 million of cash.

In September 2024, AdaptHealth entered into an amendment to its existing credit agreement (as amended, the "2024 Credit Agreement"). The 2024 Credit Agreement
included a $650 million termloan (the "2024 Term Loan”) and $300 million in revolving credit commitments with a $55 million letter of credit sublimit (the "2024 Revolver”, and
together with the 2024 Term Loan, the "2024 Credit Facility"). The 2024 Credit Facility matures in September 2029. However, if the 6.125% Senior Notes (as defined below) have not
been refinanced (to extend the maturity date to a date that is later than December 13, 2029) or repaid in full, on or prior to December 31, 2027, then the 2024 Credit Facility will mature
on May 1, 2028; and, if the 4.625% Senior Notes (as defined below) have not been refinanced (to extend the maturity date to a date that is later than December 13, 2029) or repaid in
full, on or prior to December 31, 2028, then the 2024 Credit Facility will mature on May 1, 2029. As of March 31, 2025, the outstanding borrowing under the 2024 Term Loan requires
quarterly principal repayments of $4.1 million through September 30, 2026, increasing to $8.1 million from December 31, 2026 through June 30, 2029, and the remaining unpaid
principal balance is due in September 2029. During the three months ended March 31, 2025, AdaptHealth made a voluntary repayment on the 2024 Term Loan of $20.9 million. At
March 31, 2025, there was $525.0 million outstanding under the 2024 Term Loan. Subsequent to March 31, 2025, AdaptHealth repaid $70.0 million on the 2024 Term Loan.
Borrowings under the 2024 Revolver may be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes, including for capital expenditures and acquisitions permitted under the
2024 Credit Agreement. At March 31, 2025, there was $22.4 million outstanding under letters of credit. As of the date of this filing, there were no outstanding borrowings under the
2024 Revolver. At March 31, 2025, based on the financial debt covenants under the 2024 Credit Agreement, the maximum amount AdaptHealth could borrow under the 2024
Revolver and remain in compliance with the financial debt covenants under the agreement was $277.6 million.

At the option of AdaptHealth, amounts borrowed under the 2024 Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates based upon either the Base Rate (as defined in the 2024
Credit Agreement), payable quarterly, or Term SOFR (as defined in the 2024 Credit Agreement), payable monthly or every three months depending on the interest period selected.
Interest
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periods for Term SOFR loans are available for one, three, or sixmonths at the option of AdaptHealth. Base Rate loans accrue interest at a per annumrate equal to the sumof'(a) the
Base Rate determined on each day (subject to a zero percent floor), plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.50% to 2.25% per annumbased on AdaptHealth's Consolidated Senior
Secured Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 2024 Credit Agreement). Term SOFR loans accrue interest at a per annumrate equal to the sumof (a) Term SOFR for the applicable
interest period (subject to a zero percent floor), plus (b) an applicable margin ranging from 1.50% to 3.25% per annumbased on AdaptHealth's Consolidated Senior Secured
Leverage Ratio. The 2024 Revolver carries a commitment fee during the termof the 2024 Credit Agreement ranging from 0.25% to 0.50% per annumof the actual daily undrawn
portion of the 2024 Revolver depending upon AdaptHealth's Consolidated Senior Secured Leverage Ratio.

Under the 2024 Credit Agreement, AdaptHealth is subject to a number of restrictive covenants that, among other things, impose operating and financial restrictions on
AdaptHealth. Financial covenants include a Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio and a Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio, both as defined in the 2024 Credit Agreement. The
2024 Credit Agreement also contains certain customary events of default, including, among other things, failure to make payments when due thereunder, failure to observe or
perform certain covenants, cross-defaults, bankruptcy and insolvency-related events, and non-compliance with healthcare laws. AdaptHealth was in compliance with the
applicable covenants in the 2024 Credit Agreement as of March 31, 2025.

Any borrowing under the 2024 Credit Agreement may be repaid, in whole or in part, at any time and fromtime to time without premium or penalty, other than customary
breakage costs, and any amounts repaid under the 2024 Revolver may be reborrowed. Mandatory prepayments are required under the 2024 Revolver when borrowings and letter of
credit usage exceed the total commitments for revolving credit loans. Mandatory prepayments are also required in connection with certain dispositions of assets and receipt of
certain insurance proceeds or condemnation awards to the extent proceeds thereof are not reinvested, and unpermitted debt transactions.

At March 31, 2025, AdaptHealth LLC had $1,450.0 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes outstanding. In August 2021, AdaptHealth issued $600.0
million aggregate principal amount of 5.125% senior unsecured notes (the "5.125% Senior Notes”). The 5.125% Senior Notes will mature on March 1, 2030. Interest on the 5.125%
Senior Notes is payable on March st and September 1st of each year. The 5.125% Senior Notes are redeemable at AdaptHealth’s option, in whole or in part, and the redemption
price for the 5.125% Senior Notes if redeemed during the 12 months beginning (i) March 1, 2025 is 102.563%, (ii) March 1, 2026 is 101.281%, (iii) March 1, 2027 and thereafter is
100.000%, in each case together with accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, AdaptHealth may be required to make an offer to purchase the 5.125% Senior Notes upon the sale of
certain assets or upon specific kinds of changes of control.

In January 2021, AdaptHealth LLC issued $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.625% senior unsecured notes (the "4.625% Senior Notes™). The 4.625% Senior
Notes will mature on August 1, 2029. Interest on the 4.625% Senior Notes is payable on February 1st and August st of each year. The 4.625% Senior Notes are redeemable at
AdaptHealth’s option, in whole or in part, and the redemption price for the 4.625% Senior Notes if redeemed during the 12 months beginning (i) February 1, 2025 is 101.156%, and
(ii) February 1, 2026 and thereafter is 100.000% in each case together with accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, AdaptHealth may be required to make an offer to purchase the
4.625% Senior Notes upon the sale of certain assets or upon specific kinds of changes of control.

In July 2020, AdaptHealth LLC issued $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.125% senior unsecured notes (the "6.125% Senior Notes™). The 6.125% Senior Notes
will mature on August 1, 2028. Interest on the 6.125% Senior Notes is payable on February Ist and August st of each year. The 6.125% Senior Notes are redeemable at
AdaptHealth’s option, in whole or in part, and the redemption price for the 6.125% Senior Notes if redeemed during the 12 months beginning (i) August 1, 2024 is 102.042%, (ii)
August 1,2025is 101.021% and (iii) August 1, 2026 and thereafter is 100.000%, in each case together with accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, AdaptHealth may be required to
make an offer to purchase the 6.125% Senior Notes upon the sale of certain assets or upon specific kinds of changes of control.

As of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, AdaptHealth had working capital of $168.4 million and $188.8 million, respectively. A significant portion of AdaptHealth’s
current assets consists of accounts receivable fromthird-party payors that are responsible for payment for the products and services that AdaptHealth provides.
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Cash Flow. The following table presents selected data from AdaptHealth’s consolidated statements of cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Three Months Ended March 31,

(in thous ands) 2025 2024
(Unaudited)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 95,527  $ 49,035
Net cash used in investing activities (95,585) (87,891)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (56,039) 41,290
Net (decrease) increase in cash (56,097) 2,434
Cash at beginning of period 109,747 77,132
Cash at end of period $ 53,650 $ 79,566

Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was $95.5 million and $49.0 million, respectively, an increase of $46.5 million.
The increase was the result of a $5.0 million reduction in net income, a net decrease of $16.8 million in non-cash charges, primarily from depreciation and amortization, deferred
income taxes, and the reduction in the carrying amount of operating and finance lease right-of-use assets, and a net $68.3 million increase resulting fromthe change in operating
assets and liabilities, primarily fromthe change in accounts receivable, inventory and accounts payable and accrued expenses.

As previously disclosed, in February 2024, the Company leamed that a cyber security threat actor had gained access to some of the information technology systems of
Change Healthcare, a subsidiary of UnitedHealth Group, with which one of the Company’s third-party software providers interfaces in connection with the Company’s claims
processing activity. UnitedHealth Group isolated the impacted systems upon learning of this threat and Change Healthcare suspended its claims processing activity with the
Company’s software provider, which adversely impacted the timing of collection of certain accounts receivable and the Company's operating cash flows during the three months
ended March 31, 2024. All pending claims were processed and the impacted accounts receivable balances were collected during 2024. Given these impacts, and certain other cash
requirements, the Company borrowed $75.0 million under its then existing credit revolver to fund its operating cash requirements during the three months ended March 31, 2024,
which was repaid in April 2024.

Net cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was $95.6 million and $87.9 million, respectively. The use of funds in the 2025
and 2024 periods related to equipment and other fixed asset purchases.

Net cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $56.0 million, compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $41.3 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2024. Net cash used in financing activities for the 2025 period consisted of repayments of $28.2 million on long-term debt and finance lease
liabilities, payments of $25.0 million in connection with the Company's liability relating to the TRA, a payment of $2.0 million for a distribution to the noncontrolling interest, and
payments of $1.3 million for tax withholdings associated with equity-based compensation, offset by proceeds of $0.6 million in connection with the employee stock purchase plan.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the 2024 period consisted of borrowings on lines of credit of $75.0 million, proceeds of $0.6 million in connection with the employee
stock purchase plan, and proceeds of $0.5 million relating to stock option exercises, offset by repayments of $27.3 million on long-termdebt and finance lease liabilities, a payment
of $5.0 million for contingent consideration in connection with an acquisition, payments of $1.4 million in connection with the Company's liability relating to the TRA, and
payments of $1.1 million for tax withholdings associated with equity-based compensation.
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Free Cash Flow

The following table reconciles net cash provided by operating activities to free cash flow for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Three Months Ended March 31,
(in thous ands) 2025 2024
(Unaudited)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 95,527 $ 49,035
Purchases of equipment and other fixed assets (95,585) (87,891)
Free cash flow $ (58) $ (38,856)

Free cash flow was negative $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to negative $38.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024. The
increase in free cash flow was due to higher net cash provided by operating activities, primarily due to a net increase in the cash provided fromoperating assets and liabilities
related to accounts receivable, inventory and accounts payable and accrued expenses. In addition, during the three months ended March 31, 2024, free cash flow was materially
adversely impacted by the Change Healthcare cybersecurity incident as discussed above. The higher net cash provided by operating activities was offSet by an increase in, and
timing of, purchases of patient medical equipment for operating requirements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations is based upon the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires its management to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. The Company’s management bases its estimates,
assumptions and judgments on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which formthe basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent fromother sources. Different assumptions and judgments would change the
estimates used in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements which, in turn, could change the results fromthose reported. In addition, actual results may
differ fromthese estimates and such differences could be material to the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

Critical estimates are those that the Company’s management considers the most important to the portrayal of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations
because they require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain. The Company’s critical estimates in relation to its consolidated financial statements include those related to revenue recognition and valuation of goodwill. There have
been no material changes in the Company’s critical accounting policies and critical estimates as compared to the critical accounting policies and critical estimates described in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Commitments and Contingencies

Fromtime to time and in the normal course of business, the Company is subject to loss contingencies, arising from legal proceedings, claims, and governmental and other
investigations under or with respect to various governmental programs and state and federal laws relating to its business, including as a result of or following acquisitions and
other business activities, that cover a wide range of matters. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 450, Accounting for Contingencies, the Company records accruals for such loss
contingencies when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. If there is no probable estimate within a range of
reasonably possible outcomes, the Company’s policy is to record at the low end of the range of such reasonably possible outcomes. Significant judgment is required to determine
both probability and the estimated amount. The Company reviews its accruals at least quarterly and adjusts accordingly to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings,
advice of legal counsel, and updated information. At this time, the Company has no material accruals related to lawsuits, claims, investigations or proceedings.
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While there can be no assurance, based on the Company’s evaluation of information currently available, the Company’s management believes any liability that may ultimately
result fromresolution of such loss contingencies will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial conditions or results of operations. However, the Company’s
assessment may change in the future based upon availability of new information and further developments in the proceedings of such matters. The results of legal proceedings,
claims and investigations are inherently uncertain, and material adverse outcomes are possible. Professional legal fees associated with any such legal proceedings, claims and
investigations are expensed as they are incurred.

On May 2, 2022, the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the Southern District of New York issued a civil investigative demand to a subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to the
False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3733 ("FCA") regarding whether the subsidiary submitted false claims in violation of the FCA related to its billing of, and reimbursements from, federal
health care programs for ventilators provided to patients fromJanuary 1, 2015 to the present. The Company is fully cooperating with the investigation. Given the stage of the
investigation, it is not possible to determine whether it will have a material adverse effect on the Company.

On October 24, 2023, Allegheny County Employees’ Retirement System, a purported shareholder of the Company, filed a purported class action complaint against the
Company and certain of'its current and former officers, and certain underwriters in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. On January 23, 2024, the
court entered an order appointing Allegheny County Employees' Retirement System, International Union of Operating Engineers, Local No. 793, Members Pension Benefit Trust of
Ontario, and City of Tallahassee Pension Plan as Lead Plaintiffs (the "Allegheny Lead Plaintiffs"). On May 14, 2024, Allegheny Lead Plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint
against the Company and certain of'its current and former officers and directors, and certain underwriters, on behalf of shareholders that purchased or otherwise acquired the
Company’s stock between August 4, 2020 and November 7, 2023 (as to the complaint the "Allegheny County Consolidated Complaint™; as to the action, the "Allegheny County
Consolidated Class Action”). The Allegheny County Consolidated Complaint alleges, among other things, that the defendants violated federal securities laws by making allegedly
false and misleading statements and/or failing to disclose material information regarding (i) the Company’s billing practices with respect to its diabetes product category, and (ii)
the Company’s compliance programs and integration with respect to acquired companies. The Allegheny County Consolidated Complaint seeks unspecified damages. On July 23,
2024, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Allegheny County Consolidated Complaint. The Allegheny Lead Plaintiffs filed their opposition brief on October 1, 2024, and
defendants filed their reply brief on November 15, 2024.

The Company intends to vigorously defend against the allegations contained in the Allegheny County Complaint, but there can be no assurance that the defense will be
successful.

On March 20, 2024, a putative shareholder of the Company, Weiding W, filed a shareholder derivative complaint related to the allegations in the Allegheny County
Complaint, and against certain current and former directors and officers of the Company in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (as to the
complaint, the "Wu Derivative Complaint”; as to the action, the "Wu Derivative Action”). The Wu Derivative Complaint alleges, among other things, that the defendants breached
their fiduciary duties and violated federal securities laws by making allegedly false and misleading statements and/or failing to disclose material information regarding the
Company’s organic growth in its diabetes product category. The Wu Derivative Complaint also alleges claims for unjust enrichment, waste of corporate assets, abuse of control,
and gross mismanagement. The Wu Derivative Complaint seeks, among other things, an award of money damages.

On July 25, 2024, the parties to the Wu Derivative Action stipulated to stay the Wu Derivative Action pending final resolution of the Allegheny County Consolidated
Class Action. On July 26, 2024, the court so-ordered the parties’ stipulation.

The Company intends to vigorously defend against the allegations contained in the Wu Derivative Complaint, but there can be no assurance that the defense will be
successful.

On July 29, 2024, the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the District of South Carolina issued a civil investigative demand to the Company pursuant to the FCA regarding whether

the Company submitted false claims in violation of the FCA related to its billing of, and reimbursements from, federal health care programs for humidifiers that are integrated with
CPAP devices and provided to patients fromJanuary 1, 2017 to the present.
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The Company is fully cooperating with the investigation. Given the stage of the investigation, it is not possible to determine whether it will have a material adverse effect
on the Company.

On March 8, 2025, the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania issued a civil investigative demand to the Company pursuant to the FCA
surrounding whether the Company submitted false claims in violation of the FCA related to its billing of, and reimbursements from, federal health care programs for respiratory
devices and related supplies provided to patients fromJanuary 1, 2018 to the present. The Company is fully cooperating with the investigation. Given the stage ofthe
investigation, it is not possible to determine whether it will have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk relates to fluctuations in interest rates fromborrowings under the 2024 Credit Agreement. As of March 31, 2025, there was $525.0 million
outstanding under the 2024 Term Loan, $22.4 million outstanding under letters of credit, and based on the financial debt covenants under the 2024 Credit Agreement, the maximum
amount the Company could borrow under the 2024 Revolver and remain in compliance with the financial debt covenants under the agreement was $277.6 million. Amounts
borrowed under the 2024 Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates determined in relation to the Base Rate (as defined) or Term SOFR (as defined), at our option. Due to the
interest rates being variable, fluctuations in interest rates may impact our eamings. Based on our current level of debt, we estimate that a 100 basis point change in interest rates
would have a $2.8 million annual impact on our net income (loss) before taxes.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation
of'the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act”)) as of
March 31, 2025. Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that, during the period covered by this Quarterly Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to a material weakness in
internal control over financial reporting, as further described below in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

As previously disclosed in Part II, Item 9A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, management identified a material weakness in
internal control over financial reporting, as follows:

*  The Company did not design and implement process-level controls over the determination of excess or obsolete medical equipment and other inventory balances.
Specifically, the Company did not have a mechanismin place to track the movement and status of specific medical equipment and other inventory which could affect the
valuation of'its inventory. This material weakness is hereinafter referred to as "the Inventory Valuation Material Weakness".

Notwithstanding the identified material weakness, management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, believes the interim consolidated
financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly represent in all material respects our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows at and for
the periods presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Remediation of Previously Reported Material Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financing Reporting

With respect to the Inventory Valuation Material Weakness that existed as of December 31, 2024, management continues to take steps toward remediation. Effective
October 2024, a new Chief Operating Officer started at AdaptHealth and assumed responsibility for the project to implement a perpetual inventory systemthat will enable the
Company to track the movement and status of specific medical equipment and other inventory. A solution design assessment was completed in the fourth quarter to review
operational efficiency and effectiveness of the proposed perpetual inventory system. The
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assessment also evaluated the current perpetual inventory technology deployed and identified an opportunity to leverage the Company’s existing order fulfillment and delivery
systemwithin the perpetual inventory solution. The systems' integration is now incorporated into the project scope. As of March 31, 2025, the perpetual inventory solution was
rolled out to 102 locations, supporting approximately 34% of the Company’s inventory value.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except with respect to the changes in connection with the implementation of the initiatives to remediate the material weakness noted above, there were no changes in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2025 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Fromtime to time and in the normal course of business, the Company is involved in legal proceedings relating to its business. While there can be no assurance, based on
the Company’s evaluation of information currently available, management, following consultation with legal counsel, does not expect the ultimate disposition of any ora
combination of any such legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results. However, the Company’s assessment may
change in the future based upon availability of new information and further developments in such legal proceedings. The results of legal proceedings are inherently uncertain, and
material adverse outcomes are possible. Regardless of the outcome of any particular legal proceedings and the merits of any particular claim, litigation can have a material adverse
impact on the Company due to, among other reasons, any injunctive relief granted which could inhibit the Company’s ability to operate its business, amounts paid as damages or
in settlement of any such matter diversion of management resources and defense costs. See Note 15, Commitments and Contingencies and Item 2, Management’s Discussion and
erations —Commitments and Contingencies in this report for information concerning other potential contingent liabilities
matters that do not rise to the level of materiality for purposes of disclosure hereunder.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially fromthose in this report are any of the risks disclosed under the heading "Risk Factors” in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 filed with the SEC on February 25, 2025. Any of those factors could result in a significant or material adverse effect on
our results of operations or financial condition. Additional risk factors not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business or results of
operations.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

We had no sales of unregistered equity securities during the period covered by this report that were not previously reported in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q ora
Current Report on Form 8-K.

There were no purchases of our Common Stock made during the three months ended March 31, 2025 by us or any of our "affiliated purchasers™ as defined in Rule 10b-
18(a)(3) under the Exchange Act.

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information
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During the three months ended March 31, 2025, none of the Company's directors or officers adopted, terminated, or modified a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-
Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as such terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K of the Securities Act of 1933).

Item 6. Exhibits

See Exhibit Index for documents filed or furnished herewith and incorporated herein by reference.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 21, 2024).

32 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on August 6, 2024).

33 Certificate of Designation of Preferences. Rights and Limitations of Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 26, 2020).

10.1% Offer of Employment, dated as of August 15, 2022, by and between AdaptHealth Corp. and Christine Archbold.

10.2} Amendment, dated as of February 23, 2023, to Offer of Employment. dated as of August 17, 2022, by and between AdaptHealth
Corp. and Christine Archbold.

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2% Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32%* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002.

101.INS*** XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Exhibit 104%** Cover Page Interactive Data File - The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.

**% XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language) information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of
the Securities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these
sections.

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AdaptHealth Corp.

May 6, 2025 By:  /s/ Suzanne Foster

Suzanne Foster
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

May 6, 2025 By:  /s/Jason Clemens

Jason Clemens
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

May 6, 2025 By:  /s/ Christine E. Archbold

Christine E. Archbold
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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August 15, 2022

Re: Offer of Employment

Dear Christie:

It is my pleasure to extend an offer of employment with AdaptHealth Corp. The key terms of this employment offer are as follows:

1.

Position. You are offered the position of Senior Vice President, Accounting reporting to the Chief Financial Officer with a start date of on or arounc

October 1, 2022. As an employee of AdaptHealth, Corp., you will be expected to perform your duties and responsibilities in an ethical, professional, anc
diligent manner. You will also be expected to comply with all applicable laws and the Company’s policies and procedures, which may be amended from
time to time. You will serve as a full-time employee of the Company.

2. Compensation.

a) Base Wages: You will be compensated at an annual salary of $300,000. This will be paid in accordance with the Company's applicable payroll practices

b)

<)

and will be subject to applicable taxes and withholdings.

Performances Bonuses: At the sole discretion of the company, you will be eligible to participate in the following AdaptHealth’s management incentive
bonus programs.

i. Annual Bonus: Your annual bonus target will be 40% of your base salary. Annual bonuses are based on company related fiscal goals and
individual performance as outlined by your manager and are discretionary based on these factors. Your 2022 bonus will be guaranteed
with a payout of $30,000 that will occur in March 2023. You must be actively employed at the time of bonus payout. Annual bonuses wil
be paid in accordance with our payroll cycle and will be subject to applicable taxes and withholdings.

ii. Executive Bonus Accelerator Program: Your annual bonus structure will be 50% payout if 90% EBITDA to Budgeted EBITD.
achieved, 100% payout if 100% EBITDA to Budgeted EBITDA achieved, and 200% payout if 110% EBITDA to Budgeted EBIT-
achieved. Threshold for any Executive Annual Bonus/Program is 90%.

Equity Compensation: Subject to the approval of the Company’s Compensation Committee, in connection with your employment with the Company, yot
shall receive an initial grant of restricted shares (the "Initial Restricted Stock Grant) equal to (i) $125,000 divided by (ii) the volume-weighted average
price of the Common Stock as reported by NASDAQ for the twenty (20) days immediately prior to the Grant Date (the "Grant Date VWAP”). T
Initial Stock Grant shall vest thirty-three and one third (33.3%) percent on November 15, 2023, and thirty-three and one third (33.3%) on eacl
anniversary of the Vesting Date thereafter. You must be an active employee at the time of vesting to receive this reward.

Annual Equity: Subject to the approval of the Company’s Compensation Committee, you will be eligible to participate in AdaptHealth’s Long-Tern
Equity Incentive Plan.



3. Benefits: As an employee of the Company, you will be eligible to participate in the Company’s employee benefit programs offered to full time employees
beginning on your first day of the month following 31 days of service, including health insurance, and 401k plan.

4. Paid Time Off (PTO): In connection with your employment, you will be entitled to participate in the Company’s Results Driven PTO plan.

5. Reimbursement Expenses (if applicable): Reimbursable expenses include hotel, car rental, mileage, tolls, and parking. Our expense process is managed by
Concur. You will receive your Concur account login information and instructions on our T&E policy.

6. Pre-employment screening: This offer is contingent upon discovery of no inappropriate findings as a result of a background checks which include criminal,
NSO, OIG, and DMV (if applicable), credit records (if applicable), professional license verification (if applicable). Drug and occupational health screening
may also be conducted in conjunction with AdaptHealth’s Corporate policies. Offers are also contingent discovery of no negative results from drug anc
occupational health screenings. Your consent for the release of this background check information is mandatory, and we therefore request that you read
and sign the Background Check Disclosure and Authorization form sent to you by EBI, our third-party background/screening administrator. In accordanc
with our company policies, consent to initial drug screening as well as to periodic random drug screening is also a condition of employment.

7. At-Will Employment: The employment offer is not a contract of employment. Your employment with the Company is "at will," meaning, that either you or
the Company can terminate your employment at any time and for any reason, with or without cause, and with or without notice. Any contrary
representations which may have been made to you are superseded by this offer. Although your job duties, title, compensation, and benefits, as well as the
Company's personnel policies and procedures, may change from time to time, the "at will" nature of your employment may only be changed in an express
written agreement signed by you and the CEO of the Company.

8. Non-Solicitation. You agree that during the term of your employment by the Company and for the one (1) year period following the termination of such
employment, for any reason, you will not, whether directly or indirectly, in any way for your own account or for the account of any other person, venture,
firm, business, corporation or enterprise, directly or indirectly solicit, offer employment to, employ or engage in any capacity any employee, contractor or
agent of the Company.

9. Confidential Information. You agree that you shall at no time, either during or after the term of your employment with the Company, utilize or disclose to
any third party any of the "confidential information” of the Company, as defined below, other than as necessary in the course of the Company’s business
and in the scope of your employment, or except upon the express written consent of the Company. You agree that the term "confidential information”
constitutes trade secrets of the Company, not readily ascertainable from any other sources, and includes without limitation all technical and non-technical
information, agreements, contracts, financial information, marketing plans and information, methods of doing business, pricing policies, gross profit and net
profit margins, and customer lists of the Company.

We are very excited you have chosen to join the AdaptHealth team and look forward to your long-term success with our organization. Upon review and
acceptance, please sign and return this letter to me via DocuSign. We look forward to your first day!



Sincerely,

/s/ Jennifer Spear

Jennifer Spear
Vice President, Head of Human Resources

AdaptHealth, Corp.

I have fully read and accept the terms set forth in this offer letter.

/s/ Christine E. Archbold 8/23/2022
Christine E. Archbold Date
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EXHIBIT A
RESTRICTIVE COVENANT AGREEMENT

As a condition of my becoming employed by, or continuing employment with, AdaptHealth LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the Company”), and in
consideration of my employment with the Company and my receipt of the compensation now and hereafter paid to me by the Company, I agree to the following:

Section 1. Confidential Information.

a) Company Group Information. I acknowledge that, during the period of my employment with the Company (the "Employment Period”), 1 will have
access to information about the Company and its direct and indirect parents, subsidiaries, and affiliates (collectively, the "Company Group’) and that my
employment with the Company shall bring me into close contact with confidential and proprietary information of the Company Group.In recognition of the
foregoing, I agree, at all times during the Employment Period and thereafter, to hold in confidence, and not to use, except for the benefit of the Company Group, o
to disclose to any person, firm, corporation, or other entity without prior written authorization of the Company, any Confidential Information that I obtain or create
I further agree not to make copies of such Confidential Information except as authorized by the Company.I understand that "Confidential Information’ means
information that the Company Group has developed, acquired, created, compiled, discovered, or owned or will develop, acquire, create, compile, discover, or own,
that has value in or to the business of the Company Group.I understand that Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to, any and all non-public
information that relates to the actual or anticipated business and/or products, research, or development of the Company Group, or to the Company Group’s
technical data, trade secrets, or know-how, including, but not limited to, research, product plans, or other information regarding the Company Group’s products or
services and markets, customer lists, and customers (including, but not limited to, customers of the Company Group on whom I called or with whom I may becomx
acquainted during the Employment Period), software, developments, inventions, processes, formulas, technology, designs, drawings, engineering, hardware
configuration information, marketing, finances, and other business information disclosed by the Company Group either directly or indirectly in writing, orally, or by
drawings or inspection of premises, parts, equipment, or other Company Group property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Confidential Information shall not include
(i) any of the foregoing items that have become publicly and widely known through no unauthorized disclosure by me or others who were under confidentiality
obligations as to the item or items involved or (i) any information that I am required to disclose to, or by, any governmental or judicial authority; provided,
however, that in such event I will give the Company prompt written notice thereof so that the Company Group may seek an appropriate protective order and/o
waive in writing compliance with the confidentiality provisions of this Restrictive Covenant Agreement (this "Agreement”).

b) Former Employer Information I represent that my performance of all of the terms of this Agreement as an employee of the Company has not
breached and will not breach any agreement to keep in confidence proprietary information, knowledge, or data acquired by me in confidence or trust prior or
subsequent to the commencement of my employment with the Company, and I will not disclose to any member of the Company Group, or induce any member o:
the Company Group to use, any developments, or confidential or proprietary information or material I may have obtained in connection with employment with any
prior employer in violation of a confidentiality agreement, nondisclosure agreement, or similar agreement with such prior employer. During the Employment P eriod
I will not improperly make use of,
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or disclose, any developments, or confidential or proprietary information or material of any prior employer or other third party, nor will I bring onto the premises of
the Company or use any unpublished documents or any property belonging to any prior employer or other third party, in violation of any lawful agreements with
that prior employer or third party. I will use in the performance of my duties only information that is generally known and used by persons with training and
experience comparable to my own, is common knowledge in the industry or otherwise legally in the public domain or is otherwise provided or developed by the
Company.

c) Third Party Information I understand that the Company Group has received and, in the future, may receive from third parties confidential o1
proprietary information ("Third Party Information”) subject to a duty on the Company Group’s part to maintain the confidentiality of such information and to use
it only for certain limited purposes. In recognition of the foregoing, I agree, at all times during the Employment Period and thereafter, to hold in confidence and wil
not disclose to anyone (other than Company Group personnel who need to know such information in connection with their work for the Company Group), and no
to use, except for the benefit of the Company Group, Third Party Information without the express prior written consent of an officer of the Company an
otherwise treat Third Party Information as Confidential Information.

d) Whistleblower: Defend Trade Secrets Act Disclosure.

i In addition, I understand that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prohibit me from (A) filing a charge or complaint with
participating in an investigation or proceeding conducted by, or reporting possible violations of law or regulation to any federal, state or local government agency,
(B) truthfully responding to or complying with a subpoena, court order, or other legal process, or (C) exercising any rights I may have under applicable labor laws
to engage in concerted activity with other employees; provided however, that 1 agree to forgo any monetary benefit from the filing of a charge or complaint with
a government agency except pursuant to a whistleblower program or where my right to receive such a monetary benefit is otherwise not waivable by law.

ii. I understand that the Defend Trade Secrets Act provides that I maynot be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or state trade
secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that is made in confidence to a Federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an
attorney, and solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or that is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or
other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. In the event that I file a lawsuit for retaliation by any member of the Company Group for reporting a suspectec
violation of law, I may disclose the trade secret to my attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if I file any document containing the
trade secret under seal and do not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.

Section 2. Inventions.

a) No Prior Developments By signing below, I represent that there are no developments, inventions, concepts, know-how, original works of
authorship, improvements, trade secrets, methodology, algorithms, software, processes, formulas, designs, drawings and other technological advancements and
implementations that I can demonstrate were created or owned by me prior to the commencement of the Employment P eriod, which belong solely to me or belong
to me jointly with another, that relate in any way to any of the actual or proposed businesses, products, or research and development of any member of the
Company Group and which are not assigned to the Company hereunder.
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b) Assignment of Inventions Without additional compensation, I agree to assign, and hereby do assign, to the Company all rights, title and interest
throughout the world in and to all Inventions (as defined below) which I may solely or jointly conceive, create, invent, develop, modify, compile or reduce tc
practice, at any time during any period during which I perform or performed services for the Company Group both before or after the date hereof (the
"Assignment Period’), whether as an officer, employee, director, independent contractor, consultant, or agent, or in any other capacity, whether or not during
regular working hours, provided they either (i) relate at the time of conception, development or reduction to practice to the business of any member of the
Company Group, or the actual or anticipated research or development of any member of the Company Group; (ii) result from or relate to any work performed fo
any member of the Company Group; or (iii) are developed through the use of equipment, supplies, or facilities of any member of the Company Group, or any
Confidential Information, or in consultation with personnel of any member of the Company Group (collectively referred to as ‘Company IP Rights™). 1 understand
that "Inventions” means inventions, concepts, know-how, developments, original works of authorship, improvements, trade secrets, methodology, algorithms,
software, processes, formulas, designs, drawings and other technological advancements and implementations. I agree that I will promptly make full writter
disclosure to the Company of any Company IP Rights I participate in conceiving, creating, inventing, developing, modifying, compiling, or reducing to practic:
during the Assignment Period. I further acknowledge that, to the greatest extent permitted by applicable law, all Company IP Rights made by me (solely or jointly
with others) within the scope of and during the Assignment Period are "works made for hire” for which I am, in part, compensated by my salary, unless regulated
otherwise by law. If any Company IP Rights cannot be assigned, I hereby grant to the Company Group an exclusive, assignable, irrevocable, perpetual, worldwide
sublicensable (through one or multiple tiers), royalty-free, unlimited license to use, make, modify, sell, offer for sale, reproduce, distribute, create derivative works
of, publicly perform, publicly display and digitally perform and display such work in any media now known or hereafter known. Outside the scope of my service,
whether during or after the Employment Period, I agree not to (i) modify, adapt, alter, translate, or create derivative works from any such work of authorship or
(i) merge any such work of authorship with other Company IP Rights. To the extent rights related to paternity, integrity, disclosure, and withdrawal (collectively,
"Moral Rights”) may not be assignable under applicable law and to the extent the following is allowed by the laws in the various countries where Moral Rights
exist, | hereby irrevocably waive such Moral Rights and consent to any action of the Company Group that would violate such Moral Rights in the absence of suc
consent.

c) Maintenance of Records I agree to keep and maintain adequate and current written records of all Company IP Rights made by me (solely o
jointly with others) during the Assignment Period. The records may be in the form of notes, sketches, drawings, flow charts, electronic data or recordings, and any
other format. The records will be available to and remain the sole property of the Company Group at all times.I agree not to remove such records from the
Company’s place of business except as expressly permitted by Company Group policy, which may, from time to time, be revised at the sole election of the
Company Group for the purpose of furthering the business of the Company Group.

d) Intellectual Property Rights. I hereby agree to assist the Company, or its designee, at the Company’s expense, in every way to secure the rights of
the Company Group in the Company IP Rights and any copyrights, patents, trademarks, service marks, database rights, domain names, mask work rights, mora
rights, and other intellectual property rights relating thereto in any and all countries, including the disclosure to the Company of all pertinent information and data
with respect thereto, the execution of all applications, specifications, oaths, assignments, recordations, and all other instruments that the Company shall deem
necessary in order to apply for, obtain, maintain, and transfer such rights and in order to assign and convey to the Company Group the sole and exclusive right, title,
and interest in and to such Company
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IP Rights, and any intellectual property and other proprietary rights relating thereto. I further agree that my obligation to execute or cause to be executed, when it
is in my power to do so, any such instrument or papers shall continue after the Assignment Period until the expiration of the last such intellectual property right to
expire in any country of the world; provided, however, that the Company shall reimburse me for my reasonable expenses incurred in connection with carrying out
the foregoing obligation. If the Company is unable because of my mental or physical incapacity or unavailability for any other reason to secure my signature tc
apply for or to pursue any application for any United States or foreign patents or copyright registrations covering Company IP Rights or original works o
authorship assigned to the Company as above, then I hereby irrevocably designate and appoint the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as my
agent and attorney in fact to act for and in my behalf and stead to execute and file any such applications or records and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to
further the application for, prosecution, issuance, maintenance, and transfer of letters patent or registrations thereon with the same legal force and effect as if
originally executed by me. I hereby waive and irrevocably quitclaim to the Company any and all claims, of any nature whatsoever, that I now or hereafter have for
past, present, or future infringement of any and all proprietary rights assigned to the Company.

e) State Non-assignable Invention Exemptions Solely to the extent that I (i) was or am an employee of the Company and (i) was or am based ir
California, Illinois, Washington, Kansas or Minnesota or otherwise entitled to the benefits of the state statutes of California, Illinois, Washington, Kansas o
Minnesota during the Employment Period, then, to the extent the assignment of Company IP Rights to the Company in this Section 2 can be construed to cove
inventions excluded under the appropriate state statutes (including California Labor Code Sec. 2870, Illinois Employee Patent Act, 765 ILCS 1060, Sec. 2, Revis
Code of Washington Section 49.44.140(1), Kansas Statute K.S.A. §44-130, and Minn. Stat. §181.78, each incorporated herein by reference), this Section 2 she
not apply to such inventions.

Section 3. Returning Company Group Documents.

I agree that, at the time of termination of my employment with the Company for any reason, I will deliver to the Company (and will not keep in my
possession, recreate, or deliver to anyone else) any and all Confidential Information, Third Party Information and all other documents, materials, information, an
property developed by me pursuant to my employment or otherwise belonging to the Company and, if so requested, will certify in writing that I have fully compliec
with the foregoing obligation. I agree further that I will not copy, delete, or alter any information contained upon my Company computer or Company equipmen
before I return it to the Company. In addition, if I have used any personal computer, server, or e-mail system to receive, store, review, prepare or transmit any
Company information, including but not limited to, Confidential Information, I agree to provide the Company with a computer-useable copy of all such Compan
information and then permanently delete and expunge such Company information from those systems; and I agree to provide the Company access to my systen
as reasonably requested to verify that the necessary copying and/or deletion is completed. I agree further that any property situated on the Company’s premises
and owned by the Company (or any other member of the Company Group), including disks and other storage media, filing cabinets, and other work areas, it
subject to inspection by personnel of any member of the Company Group at any time with or without notice.

Section 4. Disclosure of Agreement.

As long as it remains in effect, I will disclose the existence of this Agreement to any prospective employer, partner, co-venturer, investor, or lender prior to
entering into an employment, partnership, or other business relationship with such person or entity. I also consent to the notification of my prospective



+*adapthealth

employer, partner, co-venturer, investor, or lender of my rights and obligations under this Agreement, by the Company providing a copy of this Agreement or
otherwise.

Section 5. Publicity.

I hereby consent to any and all uses and displays by the Company Group of my name, voice, likeness, image, appearance and biographical information i
or in connection with any printed, electronic or digital materials, including, without limitation, any pictures, audio or video recordings, digital images, websites,
television programs, advertising, sales or marketing brochures, printed materials and computer media, throughout the world and at any time during or after the
Employment Period for all legitimate business purposes of the Company Group (the Permitted Use”). 1 hereby forever release the Company Group and each o
their respective current or former directors, officers, employees, shareholders, representatives, and agents from any and all claims, actions, damages, losses, costs,
expenses and liability of any kind arising under any legal or equitable theory whatsoever at any time during or after the Employment Period in connection with any
Permitted Use.

Section 6. Restrictions on Interfering.

a) Non-Competition. During the Restricted Period, I shall not, directly, or indirectly, individually or on behalf of any person, company, enterprise, or
entity, or as a sole proprietor, partner, shareholder, director, officer, principal, agent, or executive, or in any other capacity or relationship, engage in any
Competitive Activities, within the United States or any other jurisdiction in which the Company Group is actively engaged in business.

b) Non-Interference. During the Restricted Period, I shall not, directly, or indirectly for my own account or for the account of any other individual o1
entity, engage in Interfering Activities.

c) Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement:

i "Business Relation” shall mean any current or prospective client, customer, licensee, or other business relation of the Company Group, or
any such relation that was a client, customer, licensee, supplier, or other business relation within the six (6) month period prior to the termination of the Employment
Period, in each case, to whom I provided services, or with whom I transacted business, or whose identity became known to me in connection with my relationshig
with or employment by the Company.

ii. "Competitive Activities” shall mean the business of owning and operating a durable medical equipment business or any other business
activity that operates within one hundred (100) miles of any supplier location of the Company.

iii.  "Interfering Activities” shall mean (A) encouraging, soliciting, or inducing, or in any manner attempting to encourage, solicit, or induce,
any Person employed by, or providing consulting services to, any member of the Company Group and who is or is likely to be in possession of Confidentia
Information to terminate such Person’s employment or services (or in the case of a consultant, materially reducing such services) with the Company Group
(B) hiring any individual who was employed by the Company Group within the six (6) month period prior to the date of such hiring; or (C) encouraging, soliciting, or
inducing, or in any manner attempting to encourage, solicit, or induce, any Business Relation to cease doing business with or reduce the amount of business
conducted with any member of the Company Group, or in any way interfering with the relationship between any such Business Relation and any member of th
Company Group.
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iv.  "Person” shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust
(charitable or non-charitable), unincorporated organization, or other form of business entity.

v.  "Restricted Period” shall mean the period commencing on the date hereof and ending on the twelve (12) month anniversary of such date
of termination.

d) Non-Disparagement. I agree that during the Employment Period, and at all times thereafter, I will not make any disparaging or defamatory
comments regarding any member of the Company Group or its respective current or former directors, officers, employees or shareholders in any respect or make
any comments concerning any aspect of my relationship with any member of the Company Group or any conduct or events which precipitated any termination of
my employment from the Company. However, my obligations under this subsection (d) shall not apply to disclosures required by applicable law, regulation, or order
of a court or governmental agency.

Section 7. Reasonableness of Restrictions.

I acknowledge and recognize the highly competitive nature of the Company’s business, that access to Confidential Information renders me special anc
unique within the Company’s industry, and that I will have the opportunity to develop substantial relationships with existing and prospective clients, accounts,
customers, consultants, contractors, investors, and strategic partners of the Company Group during the course of and as a result of my employment with the
Company. In light of the foregoing, I recognize and acknowledge that the restrictions and limitations set forth in this Agreement are reasonable and valid ir
geographical and temporal scope and in all other respects and are essential to protect the value of the business and assets of the Company Group. I acknowledge
further that the restrictions and limitations set forth in this Agreement will not materially interfere with my ability to earn a living following the termination of the
Employment Period and that my ability to earn a livelihood without violating such restrictions is a material condition to my employment with the Company.

Section 8. Independence; Severability; Blue Pencil.

Each of the rights enumerated in this Agreement shall be independent of the others and shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any other rights and
remedies available to the Company Group at law or in equity. If any of the provisions of this Agreement or any part of any of them is hereafter construed or
adjudicated to be invalid or unenforceable, the same shall not affect the remainder of this A greement, which shall be given full effect without regard to the invalid
portions. If any of the covenants contained herein are held to be invalid or unenforceable because of the duration of such provisions or the area or scope covered
thereby, I agree that the court making such determination shall have the power to reduce the duration, scope, and/or area of such provision to the maximum and/or
broadest duration, scope, and/or area permissible by law, and in its reduced form said provision shall then be enforceable.

Section 9. Injunctive Relief.

I expressly acknowledge that, because my services are personal and unique and because I will have access to Confidential Information, any breach o
threatened breach of any of the terms and/or conditions set forth in this Agreement may result in substantial, continuing, and irreparable injury to the members of
the Company Group for which monetary damages would not be an adequate remedy. Therefore, I hereby agree that, in addition to any other right or remedy that
may be available to the Company in law or in equity, any member of the Company Group shall be entitled to injunctive relief, specific performance, or othei
equitable relief by a court of appropriate jurisdiction in the event of any
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breach or threatened breach of the terms of this A greement without the necessity of proving irreparable harm or injury as a result of such breach or threatened
breach or posting a bond and without liability should relief be denied, modified or vacated. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, I acknowledge and
agree that the Restricted Period shall be tolled during any period of violation of any of the covenants in Section 6 hereof and during any other period required for
litigation during which the Company or any other member of the Company Group seeks to enforce such covenants against me if it is ultimately determined that |
was in breach of such covenants.

Section 10. Cooperation.

I agree that, following any termination of my employment, I will continue to provide reasonable cooperation to the Company and/or any other member o
the Company Group and its or their respective counsel in connection with any investigation, administrative proceeding, or litigation relating to any matter that
occurred during the Employment Period in which I was involved or of which I have knowledge.As a condition of such cooperation, the Company shall reimburse
me for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred at the request of the Company with respect to my compliance with this Section. I also agree that, in the event
that I am subpoenaed by any person or entity (including, but not limited to, any government agency) to give testimony or provide documents (in a deposition, court
proceeding, or otherwise) that in any way relates to my employment by the Company and/or any other member of the Company Group, I will give prompt notice o
such request to the Company and will make no disclosure until the Company and/or the other member of the Company Group has had a reasonable opportunity tc
contest the right of the requesting person or entity to such disclosure.

Section 11. General Provisions.

a) Governing Law and Jurisdiction EXCEPT WHERE PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW, THE VALIDITY, INTERPRETA
CONSTRUCTION, AND PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT IS GOVERNED BY AND IS TO BE CONSTRUED UNDER THE LAV
STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO AGREEMENTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED IN THAT STATE, WITHOUT REG.
CONFLICT OF LAWS RULESURTHER, I HEREBY CONSENT TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL ¢
LOCATED IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK, AND WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY, IN CONNECTION WITH ANY DISPUTE .
UNDER OR CONCERNING THIS AGREEMENT.

b) Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding between the Company and me relating to the subject mattei
herein and merges all prior discussions between us. No modification or amendment to this A greement, nor any waiver of any rights under this A greement, will be
effective unless in writing signed by the party to be charged. Any subsequent change or changes in my duties, obligations, rights, or compensation will not affect
the validity or scope of this Agreement.

c) No Right of Continued Employment I acknowledge and agree that nothing contained herein shall be construed as granting me any right to
continued employment by the Company, and the right of the Company to terminate my employment at any time and for any reason, with or without cause, is
specifically reserved.

d) Successors and Assigns. This Agreement will be binding upon my heirs, executors, administrators, and other legal representatives and will be for
the benefit of the Company, its successors, and its assigns. I expressly acknowledge and agree that this Agreement may be assigned by the Company
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without my consent to any other member of the Company Group as well as any purchaser of all or substantially all of the assets or stock of the Company or of any
business or division of the Company for which I provide services, whether by purchase, merger, or other similar corporate transaction.

e) Survival. The provisions of this Agreement shall survive the termination of my employment with the Company and/or the assignment of this
Agreement by the Company to any successor in interest or other assignee.

I, Christie Archbold, have executed this Restrictive Covenant Agreement on the date set forth below:

Date: August 23, 2022

/s/ Christine E. Archbold
(Signature)

Christine E. Archbold
(Type/Print Name)
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February 23, 2023

Re: Updated Employment Letter

Dear Christie:

It is my pleasure to provide documentation of your revised offer terms with AdaptHealth Corp. Any terms not addressed below will remain the same as
those set out in your previous offer of employment: The key terms are as follows:

1. Position. You are being promoted to the position of Chief Accounting Officer with an effective date of March 4, 2023. As an employee of
AdaptHealth, Corp., you will be expected to perform your duties and responsibilities in an ethical, professional, and diligent manner. You will also be
expected to comply with all applicable laws and the Company’s policies and procedures, which may be amended from time to time. You will serve as
a full-time employee of the Company.

2. Compensation: Effective March 4, 2023

a. Base Wages: You will be compensated at an annual salary of $350,000. This will be paid in accordance with the Company's applicable payroll
practices and will be subject to applicable taxes and withholdings.

b. Performances Bonuses: At the sole discretion of the company, you will be eligible to participate in AdaptHealth’s management incentive bonus
program. Your annual bonus target will be 50% of your base salary. Annual bonuses are based on company related fiscal goals and individual
performance as outlined by your manager and are discretionary based on these factors. You must be actively employed at the time of bonus
payout, which is typically during the first quarter of the calendar year. Annual bonuses will be paid in accordance with our payroll cycle and will be
subject to applicable taxes and withholdings.

3. Annual Equity: You will receive a 2023 grant in accordance with other members of senior management that participate in the Company’s Long-Term
Equity Incentive Plan (LTI). Subject to the approval of the Company’s Compensation Committee, your 2023 LTI grant of restricted shares (the
"Restricted Stock Grant”) will be equal to (i) $350,000 divided by (ii) the volume-weighted average price of the Common Stock as reported by
NASDAQ for the twenty (20) days immediately prior to the Grant Date (the "Grant Date VWAP”). You must be an active employee at the time of
vesting to receive this reward.

At-Will Employment: The employment offer is not a contract of employment. Your employment with the Company is "at will," meaning, that either you
or the Company can terminate your employment at any time and for any reason, with or without cause, and with or without notice. Any contrary
representations which may have been made to you are superseded by this offer. Although your job duties, title, compensation, and benefits, as well as
the Company's personnel policies and procedures, may change from time to time, the "at will" nature of your employment may only be changed in an
express written agreement signed by you and the CEO of the Company.
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We look forward to your continued long-term success with our organization. Upon review and acceptance, please sign and return this letter to me via
DocuSign.

Sincerely,

/s/ Jennifer Spear
Jennifer Spear

Vice President, Human Resources

I have fully read and accept the terms set forth in this promotion letter.
[s/ Christine E. Archbold 2/24/2023
Christine E. Archbold Date
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CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULES 13A-14 AND 15D-14
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, Suzanne Foster, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of AdaptHealth Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
ofthe circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in all material respects, the financial condition,
results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

May 6, 2025 /s/ Suzanne Foster

Suzanne Foster
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULES 13A-14 AND 15D-14
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, Jason Clemens, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of AdaptHealth Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
ofthe circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in all material respects, the financial condition,
results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

May 6, 2025 /s/ Jason Clemens

Jason Clemens
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS REQUIRED BY
SECTION 906 OF THESARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of AdaptHealth Corp. (the "Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2025, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the "Report”), the undersigned hereby certify that to the best of our knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

May 6, 2025 /s/ Suzanne Foster Chief Executive Officer and Director
Suzanne Foster (Principal Executive Officer)
May 6, 2025 /s/ Jason Clemens Chief Financial Officer

Jason Clemens (Principal Financial Officer)



